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I. KEY INSTITUTE INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT

a) Background lnformation

Kenya Forcstry Research Institute (KEFRI) is a state corporation established in 1986, under the

Science and Technology Act (Cap 250) of the laws of Kenya, which has since been repealed by

Science, Technologl and Innovation Act No. 28 of 2013. The Institute's mandate is to carry out

research in forestry and allied natural resources. It is under the Environmental Protection, Water and

Natural Resources Budgetary Sector. It has an obligation to generate and promote improved

technologies for sustainable management, conservation and development of forests. KEFRI is ISO

I 4001 :2004 certified and thus operates in conformity with intemalional standards on Environmentrl

Management Standards (EMS) and relevant national legrslations.

(b) Principal Activities

KEI;RI's mandatc is rccognizcd undcr l-'orcst C onscn ation and Managcmcnl Act 20 I 6 as

lolkrws:'

a) Develop forestry research and development prograrrrmes and strategies for the country.

b) Conduct expert training courses in forestry and allied natural resources.

c) Disseminate research findings, innovations, and technologies for sustainable

development of forestry and allied natural resources.

d) Participate in the development and monitoring of national forest standards.

e) Establish partnership and collaborate with research organizations, institutions ofhigher

leaming, development partners and the private sector in jornt research, training, and

resource mobilization.

f) Submit reporl to the Cabinet Secretary on; -

i. MatteB relating to Research and Development

ii. Declaration ofany tree species / family to be protected and cause that rrformation

to bc d isseminated, and

iii. advisory on reversal of (ii) above

i) Our Vision

A research cenffe ofexcellence in forestry and allied natural resources forsustainable development

iD Our Mission

To conduct research in forestry and allied natural resources for sustainable developmcnt througfr

innovations, capacity building and technology transfer.

IV
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Our Core Values

o Excellence: cornmitted to high standards of prolessionalism

o Creativity: promote and support new ideas, methods, and products

r Integrity: uphold honesty. high moral standards, and intolerance lo corruption

o Teamwork: build cordial working relations and team spirit

o Inclusivity: equal access to opportunities and resources

o Networking: strive to attain sustainable networks and partnerships

. Customer Focus: oriented to customer needs and satisfaction

iv) Domicile

The Institute is domiciled in Kenya

v) Core Strategic Objectives and Goals

l. Generate technologies to enhance productivity of forests and agroforestry systems
through; -

. Tree seed technology and certification

. Biotechnology
o Tree breeding of selected indigenous tree species for drought tolerance, resistance to

pests and diseases for climate change mitigation and adaptation

o Silviculturalresearch

. Tree seed sources establishment.

. Tree nursery establishment and certification

2. Production and distribution of high-quality tree germplasm for l5B tree growing
initiative.

3. Enhance Forest Health Surveillance through; -

. Integrated management of forest pests, diseases, and fires

o Prevention of Cross boarder pests and diseases through phytosanitary requirements

4. Generate technologies for management and conservation of:
. Degraded forest and ASAL landscapes

o Soil and water conservation

o Tree seedling conservation

o Restoration and rehabilitation

. Mangroves ecosystem

o Bamboo development

. Climate change and carbon market research

o Invasive species (Prosopis) management.

5. Develop technologies and innovations for;
. Bio prospecting and IPR
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Development of efficient processing and utilization of forcst and non-wood timber
products.

o Protocol development, refining, registration, reward, and recognition

o Incubation and linkages to SSMEs and SMEs

o Contribute to setting standards for forest products.

o Generate information and contribute to the development of policies,
regulations, and frameworks to enhance govemance, inclusivity and gende
in the forest sector through conducting market surveys and movement of
forest products.

6. Provide technical support services, conduct expert training courses, and disseminate
research findings to support forestry development.

o Knowledge management and digitization
o Space technologies

o Remote sensing and satellite imagery

o Unmanned aerial vehicles (Drones) for forests assessment and monitoring
and restoration.

. Aerial seeding and seed ball technology

o Softwareapplications

o Jazam.iti and Commercial Forest innovation Apps

o Forestry training and capacity building center

o Graduate school

o Social forestry training

7. Establish and enhance partnerships and linkages for rcsource mobilization.

8. Enhance corporate branding and visibility.
9. Strengthen the corporate services and institutional capacity for effective service delivery

a

VI
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(c) Managemcnt

KEFRI'S day- to- day management is under the following key organs.

o The Board of Directors

. The Director who is the Accounting Officer and Chief Executive Officer

. Management

(d) Fiduciary Management

The key management personneI who held office during t]re financial year ended 30th June 2023 and

who had direct fiduciary responsibility were: -

NO Designation NAME

I The Chief Executive C)fficer Joshua K. Cheboiwo (PhD)

2 Senior Deputy Director- Research &
Development

Dr. Jane W. Njuguna

3 The Senior Deputy Director -
Corporate Services

CPA. George Otieno

4 The Deputy Director -Forestry
Research Support Services

Dr. Tito Mbuvi

5 The Deputy Director - Forest
Biodiversity and Environment
Management

Dr- James K. Ndufa

6 The Deputy Director -Forest Product
Development Research

Dr. George Muthike

7 The Deputy Director - Social
Economic Policy & Govemance

Dr. Joram Kagombe

8 The Deputy Director - Forest
Productivity & Improvement

Dr. James Kimondo

9 The Deputy Director -Corporate
Affairs & Ouality Assurance

Dr. Jackson M. Mulatya

l0 The Deputy Director - Human
Resource

CHRP. Evelyn I. Oroni

ll The Deputy Director - Finance FCPA. Rose B. Osoro

t2 Manager- Supply Chain Management Mr Paul Nyathore

l3 Principal Admin istrative Officer -
Administration

Mr. Fredrick Odhiambo

t4 Corporation Secretary & Principal
Legal Officer

Mr. Philip M. Kichana

vI
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(e) Fiduciary Oversight arrangements

KEFRI Board of Directors has established four (4) oversight committees as required by Section 9,

of the State Corporations Acl, Cap 446, Laws of Kenya which states as follows:

(0 KEFRI Headquarters

Off Nairobi/Nakuru Highway - Muguga
P.O. Box 20412 - 00200 Nairobi

(g) KEFRI Contacts

Tel: +254202010651/2
+2547221574t4
+254',t t4259',t8t t2
+25473425t888
Email; director@kefri.ors
Website: www,kefri.or

(h) KEFRI Bankers

Kenya Commercial Bank Ltd
Sarit Centre Branch
P.O. Box 14959-00800, Nairobi

Co-operative Bank Ltd
Westlands Branch
P.O. Box 665 89-00800, Nairobi

Equity Bank.
Eq uity Centrc. 9th Floor
Hospital Road. tJpper tlill
P.O. Box 75I04-00200
Nairohi. Kcnya.

o

BOARD COMMITTEE AND MANDATE
Research & Development Committee
This committee oversees the core business of the Institute. It coordinates, directs and controls the
research and development policies of the lnstihrte.
Finance & Administration Committec
The Finance Committee provides financial oversight for the Institute in areas such as financial
planning & budgeting and financial reporting. It also ensures prudent resources allocation and
utilization. Administration issues include security services, transport, infrastructural
development, repair and maintenance
Human Resource Committee
The committee provides strategc input on Human Resources Management issues such as

recruitment, human resources development, promotion, performance management and staff
welfare.
Audit Committee
The committee assists the board in fulfilling its corporate govemance responsibilities and in
particular to strengthen the effectiveness of the intemal audit function and maintain oversighl on
internal control systems and risk management.

vlll
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NCBA Br*
Upper Hill,
Mamlaka Road Branch
P.O. Box 44599-00100, Nairobi

Frmlly Brnk
Kikuyu Branch
P.O. Box 74145-00200, Nairobi

Independent Audltors
The Audior Gencral
office of the Auditor Gencral
Annivcrsary Towers, University Way
P.O. Box 30084-00100, Nairobi

l) Prlnclpel Lcgrl Advlser
The Attomey Gencral
State L^aw Office
Harambee Avenue
P.O. Box 40112
City Square 00200, Nairobi

lx
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TIIE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Rcf DIRECTOR DETAILS
I

Gen (Rtd) Samson Mwathethe
Ch.irErtr -KEFRI BoD

ChrirmrI of ahe Borrd of
Dlrectorr

Ihie of btrah: 27o D€cembcr 1958

lYork experience: Over 30 years

Currently, a retired Chiefof Defence Forces (CDF) of the Kenya
Defence Forces (KDF).
He has held various command appointrnents, including Vice Chief
of the Defence Forces, Commander Kenya Navy, Deputy
Commander Kenya Navy, Kenya Navy Logistics Commander,
Base Commander Mtongwe and Fleet Commander.
Other appointrnents included Chiefof Systems & Procuremen!
Departrnent of Defence, Command of individual Kenya Navy
Ships, Staff Officer Operations at Navy Headquarterg 86
Squadron Commander and Staff Officer I Coordination at the
Departrnent of Defence.
l99l - 1992. Military Observ€r in Kuwait/haq and Yugoshvb
with the United Nations.

Non-Executlve Chairman

Mr. Alexander Lemarkoko '(ndc )'
Chief Conservetor of Forests

Date of Binh: 0110111967

Area of expertise: Forestry

He is the Chief Conservator of Forcsts (CCF) and Chief
Executive Officer (CEO) at the Kenya Forest Service (KFS).

A principal member of KEFRI Board.

Erecutlve Director

3

Isaiah Nakoru
AIL PS Mlnlstry of Environmenl
CIlErtc Chrrgc .od For$try

Date of Birth: 0l/01/1955

Area of expertise: Govemance

Work summary: -
He is a widely experienced public servant who has worked
throughout the Republic of Kenya.

x
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4

Prof. Walter Odhiambo Oyawa

Director General of the
National Commission for
Science, Technology &
lnnovation (NACOSTt).

Date of Birth: 23rd August 1965

Work experience: Over 20 years,

A Profcssor of Civil Engincering, a holderof a Ph.D. in Civil
Engineering, M.Sc. Civil Engineering from the University of
Nairobi. A Professional Engineer and a Lead Expert-NEMA.

Serves in various senior leadenhip and management
positions. He is endowed with vast cxperience in
rcscarch/scholarly work, as evidenccd by publications in peer
rcvicwed papers, confercnce papers, rcports, and
presentations. He has supen ised many postgrad uate students
and undertaken impacting research in the area of sustainable
construction materials.

Erecutive Director
I

Mr. Elley Ongei Director

AIt CS The National Treasury

Date of Birth: l2th December 1965

Work experience: Over 20 years

Key Qualification: Economics

Holds a master's degree in economics

A professional in budget planning, preparation, and

execution; public expenditure reviews, policy analysis,
prograrnme implementation. development and review of
strategic plans, monitonng and evaluation. and resource
analysis. He is also an expert in proposal dcvelopment and

rcport writing.

He currently serves as the Director of Pensions in at the
National Treasury and as Secretary to the Defence Forces
Tnbunal Assessment Board and Defence Forces Appeal
Board.

xt
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5

Chrislogus A. Makokha

Date of birth: l0/l111969

Area of expertise: Economics and Statistics

Work experience: Over 20 years

Work summary: -
Holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) degree in
his field of study.
A professional in advising boards and management ofstate
corporation on corporate govemancc and compliance issues,
monitonng performance of state corporations, management
audits, and undertaking surcharge for restitution of
misappropriated public funds.
He is currently a Senior Deputy Inspector General of State

Corporations in the lnspectorate of State Corporation, Office
of the President.

1

Davies Musau Ndambuki

Mr. Metett Kibet Robert

Date of Birth: llll/1974

Area of expertise: Agricultural Engineering & Global
Supply Chain Management

Work summary:
Holds a B.sc in Agricultural Engineering (Egerton
university) and a master's on Procurement and Marketing
(University of Nairobi) and has worked with the United
Nations on procurement issues. He currently works at the
Nairobi Hospital. He has 23 years in mechanized agriculture,
automotive industry and marketing and public procurement.

Independent Board Director

I Date of Birth: 51511974

Area of expertlse: Economics & Statistics

Work summary: -
Holds a BA in economics and statistics (Egerton University)
and MBA Intemational Business management (University
of Nairobi) He has great strength over 22 years developing
and building brands and technologies. He has worked for
top leading companies in the region in the communication
seclor.
Independent Board Director

x
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Justin L. K. Miano

Mrs Hamara Ibrahim Aden

9

Date of Birth: 09109/1963

Area of expertise: Environmental Conservation

Mr. Kabuiku is an independent membcr of the Board. Hc
holds a mastcr's degree in environmental Conservation &
Conflict Resolution and has worked in the Kenyan
environmental sector with Kenya Forest Service and the
National Environmenlal Managemellt Authonty.

Indcpendent Board Dircctor

t0
Date of Birth: 3011211966

Area of expertise: Management & Leadership

Work Summary: -
Holds a master's degree and has previously worked at the
Interim Independent Electoral & Boundaries Commission
(IIEBC) as a commissioner and has vast experience in her
field.

lndependent Board Director

ll

Dr. Joshua K. Cheboiwo

ProfessionaUAcademic
qualification:
PhD. Environmental
Economics

Date of Birth 20th August 1958

Key Qualification: Expertise in socioeconomics, policy ard
govemance research.

Work experience: Over 35 years

Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer

x
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l2

Mr, Philip M. Kichana

ProfessionaVAcademic
qualificationl
CPS, Advocate of High Court
of Kenya

Date of birth: 26th July l97l

Key Qualification: Master of Laws degree LL.M (Public
Intemational Law) Bachelor of Laws degree (LL.B)
Diploma (Kenya School of Law)
Membenhip: ICPSK & LSK

Corporation Secretary

ICPSK NO. I45I

xtv
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3. MANAGEMENT TEAM

Ref Management Details

I

Dr. Joshua K. Cheboiwo
hofessionaU Academic
qualification:
Ph.D. Environmental
Economics.

Director KEFRI

2

Dr. Jane W. Njuguna

Pro fess io naUAc ademic qualification
Ph.D - Forest Science

Senior Deputy Director-Research &
Development

3

Mr. George Otieno

MBA - Finance
CPA (K)
Member of ICPAK and

The Institute of Intemal Auditors

Senior Deputy Director - Corporate
Services

4

Dr. Jrmes Kimondo

PhD. in Dryland Agroforestry

Deputy Director- Forest Productivity
Improvement

5

Dr. Musingo Tito E. Mbuvi

PhD. in Environmental Sciences
from Kenyatta University, Kenya.

Deputy Director - Forestry Research
Support Services (FRSS).

xv
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Deputy Director - Forest Biodiversity
and Environment Management

5

Dr. James Kamiri Ndufa

Ph.D - BiologicaI Sciences

6
Dr. George Muthike

Ph.D - PhD. in Biomechanical
and Environmental Engineering

Deputy Director - Forest Products
Development

7

Dr. Joram Kagombe

Ph.D - Environmental Studies

Deputy Director - Socioeconomics,
Policy and Govemance

8

Dr. Jackson M. Mulatya

Ph.D - Tree Ecology and
Agro forestry sysem interactions
and management

Deputy Director - Coryorate Affairs and

Quality Assurance

9

FCPA Rose B. Osoro

MBA Strategic Management
CPS (CS), FCPA (K)
Member of ICPAK No. 4555

D€puty Dir€ctor- Finance and
Accounting

l0 Mrs. Evelyn I. Oroni

MBA - HRM
HND - Human Resource
Management

Deputy Dtector - Human Resource
Management

xvt



KEI\YA FORESTRY RESf, ARCH INSTITUTE

\\\l .\l Rlt,0Rt \\t)t.t\\\( t\t:t \ \t[\t l.()tt I \ [\Dt t)-rr,,,.ll \1. ]i)l.l

ll Mr. Fredrick Odhiambo
Ochieng

BA - Public Adminishation and
Sociology
HND- in Human Resource

Senior Administrative Officer

t2 Mr. Paul Nyathore
MBA - Procurement and Supplies
Chain Management,
CIPS-UK, PRINCE 2

Practitioner,
Licensed practitioner in Supply Chain

Management KISM No. K717 D0l7

Manager - Supply Chain Management

l3
Mr. Philip M. Kichana

CPS, Advocate of High Court of
Kenya, Master of Laws degree LL.M
(Public Intemational Law)
Diploma (K.S.L)

Membership: ICPSK & LSK

Corporation Secretary & Pnncipal Legal
Officer

xvI
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalfofthe Board ofDirectors, Kerya Forestry Research Institute (KEFRI),

I am dclighted to present to you the Annual Report and Financial Statemenb for

the year ended 30th June 2023 in accordance with the provisions ofSection 82 of

the Public Finance Management Act, No. I 8 of 2012.

KEFRI is established under the Science, Technology & Innovation Act of20l3

as a body corporate with perpetual succcsion with power to sue and be sued in

its corporate nameand to acquire, holdand dispose of movable and immovable property. The KEFN

Finance Manual states that the Board of Directors shall provide an oversight role in the financial

management ofthe Inslitute and ensure; proper m:rnagement of the Institute's fiscal affairs; preparation

of financial statements that give a hue and fair view of the Institute's state of affairs and its operating

resu lts; accorurtab ility for monie s, fina nc ial business and management ofthe lnstitute;and provide policy

guidelines on financial issues.

ln the Financial Year 2027/2023, the Board continued to hold hybrid meetings, where members except

the Board Chairman and Committee Chairpersons attended physically and virtually depcnding on their

circumstances. The challenge faced by thc Board and its Committees during the year ending 30'h June

2023 was the fact that five independent Board members who would normally chair comminee meetings

were not appointed until l6'h June 2023. This meant the Board had to improvise and innovate by using

provisions under lhe lnterprelation and General Provisions Act, Chapter 2, Laws of Kenya to continue

its operations.

During the period the Board approved the Annual Budget and Annual Consolidated Procurement Plan

and monitored the Institute's p erformanc e an d susainability by holding four regularBoard Meetinp and

Special Board Meeting. Above all, the Board ensured that the lnstitute's strategy is aligned with its

slatutory mandatewhich is lard down in the Forest Conservation & Management AclNo. 34 of 2016 and

national strategic direction. The Board assessed implementation of the 2018-2022 Plan and found it O

have been successfully implemented at 86% out of 100%.

In the Financial Year ending 30th June 2023, the Board did not have independent Board members. The

term of the then members ended on 29'h May 2023. The Board was forced to amalgamate the Human

Resource Committee with the Finance & Adminisration Committee. Therefore, during the period, the

Board undertook its business through three comminees namely: Research & Development commiuee,

Finance & D€velopment Committee, and Audit Committee.

xvfl t
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KEFRI's income trends showed that the Govemment of Kenya (GoK) finances over 9070 of the

Institute's budget. lntemally generated funds and resources mobihzed from Development

partners/donors account for only l0% of the budget. This means that any time the Govemmcnt

undertakes austerity measures, KEFRI is only able to pay salaries with minimal scientific research.

Therefore, the Board intends to continue enhancing establishment of strategic linkages and partnerstrp

to increase its resource mobilization capacity. During the period KEFRI continued Io implcment

strategic intervention on tree seed infrastructule lechnologr development. This is aimed at expanding

tree seed management within the Institute to support the l00Z tree cover, which the Goverffnent is

reported to have made and is now considering setting a new target.

Looking ahead, we are optimistic thal we are staying on a course focusing on efficiency in resouce

application and mobilization. With dwindlingexchequer releases, the Board is alive to the fact intemally

generated revenue, innovative approaches for collaboration and partnerships for resource mobilization

is the way in the coming financial years.

In conclusion, I wish to acknowledge the unwavering support ofeach Board member & th€ir altematss

and thank them for their commitment and valuable contribution in very uncertain times. They have

maintained the high level of govemance that the Institute enjoys.

A special thank you to the management team lead by the Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Joshua K
Cheboiwo whose efforts ensured that the board seamlessly performed their role through effective

facilitation.

I also wish to recognize the support of government institutions led by our parent ministry, the StaE

Department ofForestry and lhe National Treasury for the steadfast support accorded to the Institute.

Finally, I would like to thank al[ employees for their continued resilience and reccptiveness to adoption

to change that guaranteed superior service delivery.

I hope and look forward to a better performance surpassing targets set in the Performance Contract for

the next financial year

Gen (Rtd) Samson J. Mwathethe

CHAIRMAN - KEFRI BOARD OF DIRECTORS

out".!.{....Ma,i 0L ? {2q
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5. REPORT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Kenya Forestry Research Institute (KEFRI) is a State Corporation

which was established in 1986 under the Science and Technology Act (Cap

250), which has since been repealed by the Science, Technology, and

lnnovation Act No.28 of 2013, as a lead agency in carrying out research in

forestry for development.

The Forestry sector plays a key role in Kenya's social and economic

development and forestry research is a major driver in the whole process. In

fulfilling its mandate, the Institute continued being guided by is 7th Strategic PIan (2022 to 2027')

in its mission to conduct research in forestry and allied natural resources for sustainabh

development through innovations, capacity building and technology transfer. The 7th Strategic Plan

2022-2027 adopts an integrated thematic and programme research approach in line with the

National Forest Programme (NFP). The Plan is supported by five technical strategic themes; Forest

Productivity and lmprovement (FPl). Forest Biodiversity and Environment Management (FBEM),

Forest Products Development (FPD), Socioeconomics, Policy, and Govemance (SPG), and Forest

Research Support Services (FRSS). The core thematic areas are supportcd by; Human Resourcc

Management (HRM); Finance and Accounts (F&A), Supply Chain Management (SCM),

Administration, Intemal Audit and Risk Management (lA&RM), Legal Services, Monitoring and

Evaluation (M&E) and Corporate Affairs and Quality Assurance (CA&QA), Revenue Generations

Sewices (RGS), and Resource Mobilizatron and Parmership Development (RM&PD).

The Strategic Plan facilitates the Institute to achieve its three strategic goals: Develop quality forest

and tree germplasm towards achieving andmaintaining a minimum of 30o% tree cover by 2032;

Develop forest and trcc-based technologies and innovations for sustainable forest management,

bluc economy and climate change mitigation and adaptation; and, Improve forest based

livelihoods through gender sensitive Nature Based Solutions (NBS) for sustainable socio-

economic development and wealth creation. The plan is also the framework for the Govemment

National Tree Growing and Rangeland Restoration Programme That aims to plant l5 billion hces.

KEFRI continued to play a key role in generating Nature Based Solution technologies,

innovations and information; to support relevant programmes and projects. The output ofthe

research informed decision maken in policy formulationwith a view of assisting Kenya to meet

the relevant targets of forestry resources.
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Towards the I 5 billion trees initiative KEFRI produced 47,192kg ofseed across its I 8 seed centres

countrywide and distributed tree seeds and potting bags to specific users in various zones

countrywide. It also monitored and verified tree growing and survival through Jazamiti App. KEFRI

provided lree seeds and seedlings through pa(nership with the communities and County

govemments to ensure the country achieve the 30% tree cover by 2032. In addition, our engagement

with stakeholders, especially farmer training sessions continued through digital means.

Financial Performance

During the financial year 2022l2023, the lnstitute received Kshs. I, 441 ,000,000 as recurrent granb

and development grant of Kshs. 2 I 5,612,405. Development fund was meant for seed infrastructure

technolory development, a national strategic initiative. The Institute generated Kshs. I 12,3 l6,7z16

as Intemally Generated Revenue and Donor grants received amounted to Kshs. l2l,197,425.

KEFRI continues to expand institute linkages and partnerships to enhance resource mobilization and

technical capacity.

Technical performance

KEFRI has aligned its strategrc focus to include the Kenya Kwanza Govemment Manifesto, Vision

2030 Flagship Project and Sustainable Development Goals through; Demonstration of technologies

for Rehabilitation of water towers; Management & control of invasive species; Production oftree

seed species for increased aee cover, food security, health and creation of green jobs; Bamboo

conservation and development for industrial use, housing and food security; Raising planting

materials for difficult to propagate indigenous ree species for afforestation; Increase tree seed

source acreage to achieve at least 30o% tree coverby 2032;and Dissemination of forestry technolory

and information for adoption and up scaling forestry development.

Human Capital

The Institute has continued to attract, motivate and retain competent human capital in order to ensurc

efficiancy and effectiveness in it service delivery. KEFRI employees are categorized as Permanent and

Pensionable that forms the majority, contract and casual short-term engagement mostly engaged at fieH

level. We recognize thal employees are key drivers in the realization ofthe strategc objectives, srch as,

operational efficiency and delivering service to our customers. We ensure that our stafffeel co nnecEd

with our purpose and are empowered and recognized. Safety and wellness amidst the current

environment; Ongoing skilling, reskilling and upskilling especially for digital transformation

xxt
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and other emerging forestry initiatives. Focus on gender equality and cultural diversity ard

inclusion remained in the fore.

During the year, the institute implemented the ERP and started the construction of the daa

centre. The data centre supports the digitization process aimed at safeguarding forestry research

assets accumulated since 1938.

Further, we continued with the implementation of four (4) human resource management

instruments that obtained approval from the State Corporations Advisory Committee (SCAC)

in the previous year.

Forestry Research Institutional Caprcity rnd Infrrstructural Improvements

During the year under review, the Institute continued to facelift its existing facilities in headquartels

and its research cenhes. The following seed infrasaucture developments meantto improve institutes

capacity for tree seed collection, testing and distribution in pursuit of anaining the 3004 tree covcr

were completed namely: Tiva, Kibwezi, Kakamega, Rumuruti, Marigat, Maseno, Garissa and

Migori. Those in phase one but not yet completed are at different stages of completion as follows;

Nyeri(80%),Gede (85%) and Taita Taveta (75%). Theyare expectedto becomplete by 3l "October

2023. Fencing of research experimental plots in Tiva (0.7km), Kibwezi (l.5km) and Rumuruti

( I .05km).

The Institute continued its quest for securing land meant for forestry research in Baringo, Migori,

Wajir, Taita Taveta, Lamu and Hola stations; For Migori & Wajir, allotment letters were obtained

and for Taita Taveta & Lamu, title deeds secured.

On business re-engineering the Institute continued with the implementation of an Enterprise

Resource Planning (ERP) and completion of the data centre aiming at automation. The projects are

change makers and with completion date being Financ ial Y ear 202312024.

Development Partners

During the FY 202212023, the Institute received support from the World Bank, JICA-Capacity

Development Project for Sustainable Forest Management in Kenya (CADEP), Biofuel4 Kenya

Project, Dutch-Sino/INBAR-East Africa Bamboo Development Project, UNDP-FAO support to

Commercial Forestry lnvestment and Expo Forum, AHRC/IIED, TWENDE, KCSAP, GATSBY

Africa and Darwin [nitiative. This augnented the Institute's financial and research capacity.

)o( t
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Challenges

In the penod under review, the Institute was faced with the following challenges:
o Staffresourcing with an ageing staff compliment and inadequate specializations in emerging

disciplines.

o Lack of legislarive support for forestry research and access mechan ism to research land from

gazetted forests.

. Limited automation of processes.

. Increased degradation due to encroachment of forestry land coupled with low funding of

forestry research sector.

. lnadequate coordination framework between the county and national govemment over

management of natural resources; and

. Declining budgel allocations put a lot of strain on operations and maintenance.

ln conclusion, I wish to appreciate the Board of Directors for continued strategic direction and

oversight. They have spent immense time guiding us on various mafters. Our clientele for relentless

support, our service providers for their continued collaboration and loyalty, and finally, the

dedicated and talented staff who have shown unwavering commitment to their work, without whom

our objectives may not have been achieved.

I also extend our gratitude to the Govemment of Kenya, through The National Treasury and the

Ministry of Environment and Forestry; Development Partners and all other stakeholders for their

cooperation and support in accomplishing the Institute's mandate.

Dr. Jrne Njuguna

AC. DIRECTOR, KEFRI
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6. STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
FOR FY 2022n023

Section 8l Subsection 2 (f) ofthe Public Finance Management Act, 2012 requires the accounting

officer to include in the financial statement, a statement of the national govemment entity's

performance against predetermined objectives.

To implement its mandate KEFRI, has adopted a two-prong approach, namely,

I . Thematic approach that mainly focuses on themes according to the National Forest Policy

2016-2023, as per figure I

Fitutc lThcnatic.4pprooch

2. Ecological Approach focusing on a specific ecological niche and ecosystem of the Kenyan

landscape as per figure 2.

Figu|c 2 Ecologicol .4?proach

3. Supported by; -

Co.EoE- trn-a., rEbllcl.y, qu.ll6r
cl.- o^.8 oa-rlt-a.. l- at'8.'r7

Hstu6 ldult. Pln.-e.,rdBlht .r..roA.3{rrE}y <tr.l-, R-Ehs. C.F-E.lon, l^Ern.l
 udrt -hd t .k ir. a.m.6..hd l.-aal

a-

at-

rI-
d.E--

-

<a--
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STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTryES FOR FY 2O22NO23.cont,d

KEFRI has 14 strategic d irectorates/themes/departments within its Strategic Plan for the FY 2022-2023 to 202612027. These strategic themes,

directorates and departments are as follows.

Directorate I : Research and Development

Directorale 2: Corporate Services

Theme l: Forest Productivity, Health and Tree Improvement

Theme 2: Forest Biodiversity, ClimateChange & Environment Mg;t

Theme 3: Forest Products and Entrepreneurship Development

Theme 4: Socio-Economics, Policy and Govemance

Theme 5: Forest Research Support Services

Corporate Affain and Quality Assurance

Resource Mobilization and Partnerships Development

Corporate Services

Intcmal Audit and Risk Management

Supply Chain Management

Corporation Secretary and Legal Services

Monitoring and Evaluation

Department I

Department 2

Department 3

Department 4

Department 5

Department 6

Department 7

KEFRI develops its annual work plans based on the above 2 directorates.5 themes and 7 departments. Assessment ofthe Board's performance against

its amual work plan is done on a quarterly basis. The lnstitute achieved its performance targets set for the FY 202212023 period. The table below

shows major and summarized performances of 5 Strategic Themes and 4 Strategic Departments.

To enhancc production of
supcrior germplasm for
priority tsee species for
different agro-ecological
zones

Quantity of highquality tee
seeds collected

Prcduce 60250 Kgs of tsee seeds
from various species from all the
eco-regions
Increase kee seed source acreage
by I 16.5 ha

47,213 kg of trce seeds wfrc
collectcd from various tsee

specics in FY 2O22n023
93.32 ha of seed orchards and
seed stands were established and
maintained in various ecological
regions

No of tree seed source
acreage
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To generate technologies
for foresty conservation
and rehabilitation of
ecosystems

To generatc tcchnologies
for management and
conservation of forest
landscapes and resilience b
climatc change for
sustainable development

To develop techrnlogies for
efficient processing and
utilizatioo of forcst
pmducc for livelihood
improvement

No. of foesty rcchnologies
devcloped

To develop 42 new forestry
technologies; and refine ongoing
forestry technologies

Number of tec seedlinp
raiscd

Number ofgrafts of difficult
to propagate tree species

Produce I .l million tree scedlings
of assorted tee species

Raise 75,000 planting material ot
difficult to propagate tree species

I . I 99 millioo t.ee seeds werc
producod across varins
ecoregional tree nurseries
88,095 planting materials were
propagated for varirus
indigenous tree species
including:
32 new forestry technolo$es
werc developed in the field sd
across various reseach
Iaboratories in KEFRI fcr
adoption by stakeholden
30 ha of demonstralion plol
established for rehabilitation of
Mau Forest (5 ha) and 25 ha of
River Sabaki
3 t'ainings wcre conductcd in
Nandi, Menr and Kilifi qr
bamboo utilization dld
managsment

Control and management of
invasive tree species (dodder,
Ipomoea hildebrandtii and
Opuntia stricta) was done in
Kajiado and Laikipia County
4 tsee products were developed

Number of ha of
demonstration plots
established for rehabilitation
of water towers
Number of rainings on
Bamboo propagation and
nursery mrnagament &
Utilization

Number of invasive tree
species managed and
controlled

Number of nm-tirnber forest
producs developed

Establish 5 ha and l5 ha of demo
plot for rehabilitation of Mau
water tower and River Sabaki in
Kilifi respectively
Conduct 3 trsinings on Bamboo
propagation and nurscry
managrment & utilization

Demonstrate control and
management of dodder, Ipomoea
hildebrandtii and Opuntia stricta

Develop 4 forcst producb ad
follows: Jam from Vangueria
fruits, natural dp from Mangrove,
Hertal tea from
Zanthoxylumchalybeum leaves
and soaD from bamboo leaf

u
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Number ofSMEs tained on Link developed tree products to 3

making tree products SMEs

Develop I policy on Commcrcial
forcstry invcstncnt Ccotr

Cape chesfrrut lotion and soap in
Kieni, bamboo handicraft
technologies for a women group
in Kawangware, Linking of
refined lndigenous fruit
processing and aloe products to
SMES in West Pokot,
I policy on Commercial forestry
investnent Centc was
developed

To gencrarc information o
guidc devclopment of
policies, regulatory and
institutional frarEworts to
enhance govcmance in dre
forest sector for socio-
economic devclopmcnt
To provide technical
support services, conduct
expert training courses and
disseminate research
findings to support forestry
development

No. of policy documcns
dcvcloped

No. of field days carried oul

No. of publications
produccd.

To enhance
partnerships and
linkages for
implementation of joint
activities and resource
mobilzation

Number of MoUs signed
with partners

No. of resource mobilization
concepts devclopcd

To organize 4l field days to
demonstrate forestry technologies
for adoption
To pmducc 43 peer rcviewed
joumal papcrs, t chnicsl Dotcs,
guideliaes, and policy briefs

Develop and sign 5 MoUs with
partners

Develop l8 resouce mobilizatioo
concepBto fiD&aise forpurposes
of rescarch and capacity building
of stakcholders to enhance
livelihoods

39 field days were conducted as
in various eco-regional centers
of KEFRI
45 publicatiors wcre developed
8od published in peer reviews
jnurnals, technical notcs,
guidelines, and policy briefs

KEFRI drafted and signed 4
MoUs with Turkana County,
Lukenya University, JKUAT and

COBEC
I E rcsource mobilization
soncepb were developed and
submitted for funding by variqs
donors and partnen

xw



KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

\\\l \t tU t, l \\l) \\\( l\l \ I \ I I \ I I \ I I ( ) ll I \ l \ l ) l l)rr"ll \l l0lI

To strengthen institutional
capacity for Research &
Development

Training needs assessmenl
reports:
No of staff trained

To carry out staff training Needs
Assessment

To cxccute interv€.ltisrs to addEss
thc identified skills gaps and
training needs dlrmgh rccruitnent,
Outsourcing capacity
building/raining
To undertake staff performance
appraisal

Offer 140 of attachment and
intemship oportuities to studenb

Construction of seed processing
and storage facilities in Nyeri,
Rumuruti, Marigat, Kakamega,
Maseno, Migori, Kitui, Garissa,
Taita Taveta, Gede and Londiani
Fencing 3 km of Tiva Forest
station
Raise Ksh. 80 million through sale
of sale of
forest produce; hire of facilities;
house rent and sale of water and
[:boratory analysis
Ensur€ absorption of 100% of
allocated funds
Ensure pending bill do not exceed
I % of approved budget
Ensur€ that at least 30% (Kshs.
216,121,853) of the btal
procurenrnt brdget of is reserved

Training needs assessment was
conducted

Recommendations of TNA
rcport was carried out in form of
baining mcntorship and
recruitnent

Staff appraisal was done for all
staff in FY 2022/2023

321 attachment and intemship
opportunities were offered

The I I seed centres were
constructed during the FY

3 km ofTiva station was fenced
in FY 202212023

0.29%

Ksh. 75,142,920 worth of
procurement of goods and
sewices was awarded to PWDs

To undertake management
of the procurement
function, offer technical

Number of attachment and
intemship opportunities
offered
No of infrastructural
development works

Amount of money raised
through A-in-A

7o absorption of funds
allocated by GoK and donus
% pending bills incuned

Access to Govemment
Procurcment Opportunities
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advice on procurcmeot
issues and ensure
compliance with
pmcurement policies, nrles,
and rcgulations

To enhance corporate
publicity for increased
visibility and ensure quality
of research and service
delivery

Promotion of [.ocal Content
in Procurement

Promotion of Local Contcnt
in Procurement

No. of publicity activities
carried out

Improvemcnt of service
delivery

and awardsd to the Youlh, Women
and PeBons with Disabilities
Reserve at least 40olo of
procurement
budget for local goods and servi:es
Reserve at least 40olo of
prccurcment budget for local
goods and serviccs
Carry out 22 dissemination
activities of forestry technologies
through exhibitions, print and
electronic media
Carry out 1 set of intemal and
cxtemal audit of tfie quality
management system (IS0
900 I :20 I 5) and cnvironmental
msnagement systcm 0SO
14001:2015)
To participation in 4 National and
IntemationaI Environmental and
Forest forums

Ksh. 364,266,581 worth of
procurement of goods and
services procured locally
Ksh. 364266,581 worth of
procuremerl of goods and
services procured locally
l4 publicity and exhibition
activities were done in ASK
shows, Radio talks and TV talks

I surveillance audit was dorr by
SG$K and intemal audits wcre
also conducted for continual
improvement of the lntegrated
Management System

Panicipated in the following
forums: National Tree Planting
Day; World Environment Day
(WED); Intemational Day of
Forests (IDF); World Food Day
(WFD); and National tree
planting campaigns

No. of national and
intemational fora
participated
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7. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The KEFRI Board is established undo the Science Technology & Innovation Act No, 28 of 2013 and

the State Corporations Act, Cap ,146 Laws of Kenya. Howcver, KEFRI's mandate is found in Section 22

of the Forest Conservation & Management Act, which states that KEFRI shall be the national agency in

forestry research and development.

The Institute is managed by the Director/CEO under the foresight and oversight of the Board of

Directors. The KEFRI Board embraces the principles ofgood govemance espoused in Article l0 offte

Constitution 2010 which include fostering a culture of integrity, accountability, and transparency.

The Board derives further guidance fiom Mwongozo: The Code of Govemance for State Corporations.

The Board also conforms to regular Govemment Circulars and seeks advice from the State Corpomtions

Advisory Committee (SCAC) and the Salaries & Remmeration Commission (SRC) whenevcr required.

The Board performs its role through Committees and oversees corporate govemance, advises

management on d€veloping financial plans, determines the strategic direction, goals and objectives as

well as evaluating management's performance in pursuing and achieving those goals.

a) The Board Size, Composition, and lndependence

The KEFRI Board of Directors consists of a non-executive Chairman appointed by H.E The President

and eleven ( I I ) directors out of which five (5) are independent non-executive directors appointed by tre

Cabinet Secretary in charge ofthe State Department of Forestry. The othersix (6) membersare appointed

by various govemment departments and agencies in acmrdance with the law. The Board Members have

diverse skills and competexcies and except for financial year ending2023, Board co mmiftees are chaired

by independent non-executive members. The Chairman and Independent Board members are appoinbd

for an initial term ofthree (3 ) years and are eligible for reappointment fora further and final one term.

b) Board Meetings Held in the Year

The Board meets at once in every three months or more in accordance with the requirement of lhe

business to be conducted. The Board work plan and calendar of meetings is prepared in advance and

shared with the parent Ministry and the State Corporations Advisory Committee (SCAC). At least l4

days' notice of meaings is given, and Board papers are circulated in good time and the quorum of any

meeting shall be two-thirds of ihe members present physically or virtually.

o
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The table below de'tails membcrship and attordance as per scheduled Board meetings during the year

SNo. Nanrc FB SB R&D F&A Audit Totel

Dr. John Waitlqka I NorrnEnSer NorFnrntrer 3

Gcrr (Rtd) Sarson J. Mwa0pthe 1 0 NorFnEnber NorFnEnber 3

3 Mr. Ckbbgx Makokha 4 5 5 2 l'l

4 Mr. Elt Ongei 4 Non- rErber 5 2 l)

5 Mr. Gileon Kinri 4 Non-rErrber 5 2 t2

6 Mr. Peter Waweru 3 0 4 l0
,|

Dr. Lrry Ng'ng'a 7 4 NorFrrEnb€r 2 9

8 Mr. Juliu Kannu 0 0 2 0 NorFnErnber 2

9 Mr. Isaiah Nakoru I 0 I 0 3

l0 Mr. Abx lrnnrkoko I 0 I 0 0 2

ll Mrs. Hanrara [- Aden 0 0 0 0

l2 Mr. Davbs Ndambuki I 0 0 0 0

l3 Mr. Justin Kabuftu I 0 0 0 0 I

*FB- Full Board Meeting; SB- Special Board Meeting; R&D- Research and Developmmt Commillee

Meeting; F& A- Finance and Administration Committee meeting; Audit Committee Meeting

c) Board Structure

The Board operales under a comprchensive structue made up of cornrnittees established to assist in

discharging its responsibilities and obligations. The committees assist the Board in carrying out is

functions and ensuring that lhere is independcnt oversight of intemal controls and risk managenrent The

Board Committees are: -

i. Research and Deve lopment Committee. This committee offers policy guidelines and sraegic

direction in forestry research and technologies for sustainable development of forestry and allii
natural resources for socio-economic development.

ii. Finance and Administrrtion Committee- The corffniftee ensuresprudent financial management

through reviews of the annual budga and financial reports and ensures availability of adequats

resources for the achievement of the organization's objectives. The committee also provides

oversight on infrastructural developmenl, repair and maintenance, security services and transport

iii. Human Resource Committee - The committee provides strategic inputs on human resources

management issues such as recruitment, human resources development and training, promotbn,

performance management, succession planning and staff welfare.

xxxt
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Audit Committee - The committee assists in enhancing intemal controls and risk managEment to

improve efficiency, transparency, and accountability; ensures compliance with regulaory

framework and ethical guidelines; reviews audit issues raised by Intemal and Extemal Audion;

resolve unscnled and outstanding/un-remediated audit issues; enhance communication between

management, intemal and extemal audit and fostering effective intemal audit function.

d) Roles and Functions ofthe Board

The Board offers strategic guidance, leadership, and control of the lnstitute by defining the strategi

intent, its objectives and values, reviews the strategic direction and adopts the work plans proposed by

Management. With retention of full and effective control over the lnstitute, lhe Board monitom

Management's implementation ofthe plans and strategies, ensures ethical behaviour and compliance

with relevant laws & regulations, audit and accounting principles, corporate policies & procedues, and

the Code of Ethics.

The Board evaluates the performance of Management against targets andobjectives and benchmarks fte

performance of the Institute against best international practices. The Board considers and approves fie

Institute's overall budget, annual procurement plan and specific proposals for capital expenditure. The

Board approves reports and the performance ofeach Board Committee. lt further approves the quarte y

and annual financial statements.

Further, it reviews succession planning for the management team and approves senior executive

appointments and lheir remuneration in accordancc with the Salaries & Remuneration Commission

(SRC) Guidelines and oversight organizational changes.

e) Board Remunerrtion

Remuneration of the Chairperson and the Board members is determi-ned by the State Corporatiors

Advisory Comminee, under section l0 of the State Corporations Act, Cap 446 ofthe Laws of Kenya.

Remunerationof the ChiefExecutive Officeris determinedby the Boardwithin SCAC guidelinequnder

section 5(3) of the State Corporations Act, Cap 446 of the Laws of Kenya.

f) Code ofConduct and Ethics

As guided by the Mwongozo Code of Govemance, the Board adheres to the highest standard of

behaviour and ensures development and adherence to the Institute code of conduct by staff.

g) Induction

Upon appointment, new Directors embart on a detailed programme to familiarize themselves with tre

lnstitute's research activities and operating environment. Corporate literature is providd and meaings

arranged with the senior Management team. Visits to Eco-regions are also organized.

xxxii
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h) Continuous Professional Development

Dunng the year, the audit committee did not hold its annual capacity building workshop to enhance trir
skills and knowledge, as well as keep abrea$ ofthe developm€nts in nsk analysis & mitigation and audit

due to budgetary austerity measures. However, this is expected to resume in the next financial year.

i) Board Member Performance and Evaluation

The Board conducts an annual evaluation for the chairman, individual mernbers and the ChiefExecutive

Officer. This is done in accordance with guidelines provided by the State Corporatioos Advisory

Committee (SCAC). During the year, an evaluation tracker is maintainedto monitor implementation of

recommendations on evaluation. The evaluation of the Board during the financial year ending 30h June

was conducted on Friday 21" Jlly 2023.

j) Conflict of Interest

Every Director is under a legal obligation to disclose to the Board a real or potential conllict of intere$

which comes to his,/her attention, whelher direct or indirect. Th€ directors make an oral declaration of

whether they have an interest or a conflicting interest in any Board business. Further, they sign a

declaration of interest registerduring every meeting to maintain a written record oftheir interesl or lack

of interest.

)ofim
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This Annual Reporl captures the overall performance of the Institute based on its key strategic

objectives and the annual performance contract in line with the KEFRI Strategic plan 2018-2022.

The report comprises of the operational and financial performance of the Institute for the last three

years. A discussion of key projects and investments undertaken or on-going is also included. The

detailed management discussion and analysis is as stated below.

I.) OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

i) Operational Performance

During Financial Year 202212023, the Institute implemented various projects and programmes that

focused on dev€lopment of forest technologies, dissemination of research findings to the

stakeholders and improved infrastructural facilities. The progammes and projects were mainly

funded through govemment grants, development partners and intemally generated funds. Funds

from the Govemment were mostly used for personnel emoluments, capital projects and maintenanc€

services. Donor funds were used for development of research technologies as per partnership

agreements. Intemally generated funds werc used to cater for utility bills within the Institute.

At the macro levelthe depreciation of the Kenyashilling, increase offuelprices andpossible supply

chain disruptions had elevated business risk. Additionally, the unpredictable weather (drought)

remains a great concem. Forex risk and poor weather conditions continued to negatively affecl

inflation further complicating the operational efficiency at Institute level.

b) Financial performance

i) Income Trends

Over the years the Institute financial performance has remained relatively unchanged. The

following is a summary of the income the Institute has received in the last three financial years: -

Source of Funds FY 2022-202t
(Kshs)

FY 2021-2022 (Kshs) w 2020t2021
(Kshs)

GoK Funds 1,478,987,007 1,525,7 57 ,8t I | ,499,7 69,61 4

Donor Grants t26,67 6,3 t 5 | 14,835,278 107,277 969
lnternallv Generated Revenue I12,3t6;146 I t7 ,633,921 t 03,470,6 I 5
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ii) Absorption rate

During the ycar. thc Institutc fully absorbcd thc budgctcd funds fiom govemmcnt grant. donor gran(

and internally gcncratcd rcvenuc. There werc no pending bills.

iii) Employee costs

As of 30th June 2023, the Institute had 848 employees compared to 850 in 2021lZO22 and 879 in

the outer year. The employee costs hav€ remained flal year after year since the Board and

National Treasury approved replacement of critical staff leaving service.

The trend is as shown below: -

Prrticulars w 2022n023 Fv 202112022 Fv 202012021

No of PermanentEmployees 848 850 879

Costs (Kshs.) I ,209 ,7 24 ,904 I,207,442,826 1,154,481 ,167
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iv). Operating and Malntenance costs

Operating costs cater for day-to-day operations of the Institute including research materials,

supplies for production, chemicals and laboratory materials, elecnicity, water and conservation,

telephone, intemet, and communication expenses, traveling and accommodation, advertising &

publicity, training expenses, fuel and lubricants, security, insurance etc. Repairs and Maintenanc€

caters for maintenance of plant, equipment, and vehicles. These expenses increased from Kshs.

477 ,197 ,903 Kshs 488,386,495 to because of increased activities release of exchequer which was

better than previous year.

The trend is as shown below: -
Particulars w 2022-2023

(Kshs)
Fv 2021-2021

(Kshs)
FY 2020i2021 (Kshs)

Operating and Maintenance
Expenses

488,386.495 477 ,t97 ,903 398,078,680

Operatlng and l\raintenance Expenses

488-386-495 477 -197.903
39a.O7A-6aO

FY 2022/2023 FY 202t/2022 FY 2020/2021
r OteratirUl attd MaiutetraDce Expeuses

)ofivl
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v) Board of Mrnagement Expenses

The expenses cater for allowances, meetings expenses and medical insurance. The decrease was

because of the decrease in board activities and there were no independent board members.

The uend is as shown below: -

Particulars FY 2022-2023 (Kshs) w 202t-2022
(Kshs)

Fv 2020n021
(Kshs)

Board of Directors
Costs

7 ,22',t ,142 | 6,459 ,429 13,505,560

Board of Directors Costs
L6.439.429

13.505.5@

'7.227.142

FY 2022/2023 FY 2020/2021FY 2021/2022

t Board of Directcs CGts

vi) Sinking Fund
The Institute ses aside a determined amount of money every year from its inlernal sources to the

sinking fund account for the purpose ofpurchasing and maintenance of capital assets. The amount

contributed every year for this purpose is determined by the availability of funds. The funds nr,ay be

invested to boost the fund with interest eamed.

Period FY 2022-2023 Kshs) FY 2021-2022 (Kshs) FY 20202021 (Ksbs)

Sinking Fund 39,492,061 34,493,126 34,495.256

)m(Vll
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vii) Surplus/ (Deficit)
During the year, the Instinrte had a deficit of Kshs. 6l ,786,760 from a deficit of Ksh s. 4,824,867.

This was because of reduced incomes from unreleased exchequer.

The trend is as shown below: -

Period w 2022-2023
(Kshs)

FY 2021-2022 (Kshs) FY 2020/2021 (Kshs)

Surplus/Deficit (61 ,786,760) (4,824,867 ) 72,446,585

Surplus/Deliclt
72,446,5a5

FY 2021/2022
(4,A24,A661

FY 2020/202 |

(6t,7a6,7601

r Stnplrrs,/Deficit

c) Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain facilitates the acquisition of goods and services required to meet the needs of

achieving corporate and strategic objectives. Supply chain management is a significant cost and

value driver in the delivery of the best prices, highest quality, and the best availability of

requirements through the development of an agile supply base.

F\ 202 t /2022
r Sit .i[!. Frutd
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d) Asset Manage ment

The Institute has continued to make the best use of equipment, machinery, tools, and buildings to

maximize value. This has been done through: -

i) Inventory Management:

The Institute has an automated system for maintaining and controlling its assets. As at 30th June

2023, asset book value was Kshs. 5.844 billion as compared to Kshs. 5.765 billion in the previous

year.

ii) Repairs and maintenance

Activities geared towards restoring assets, equipment, and tools to usable condition after damage

or wear have been expedited. These activities include service contracts for specialized lab

equipment, motor vehicles and minor alterations of buildings and stations.

iii) Disposal of Assets

Disposal at the Institute is done in full conformity with the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal

Act 201 5 and Environmental Management Act.

e) Institute's compliance with statutory requirements

The Board has continued to comply with statutory requirements including remittance of statutory

deductions such as Pay-As-You-Eam, National Hospital Insurance Fund, National Social Security

Fund, Higher Education Loans Board and Pension Scheme. ln addition, the Institute has adhered rl

other legal requirements such as the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 (PFM), NEMA Act,

Labour Relations Act as well as Treasury Circulars issued from time to time.

f) Key projects the Institute is implementing or ongoing

The key projects funded by the Government include: -

i) Development of Forest Research Technologies.

ii) Strategic intervention on tree seed infrastructure technology development.

iii) Establishment of Farmers Resource Centre including Migori and Taita Taveta

iv) Construction of glass and greenhouses.

v) Renovating and equipping research laboratories.

vi) Conservation activities towards 30% tree cover.

vii) Development of Tiva Management Plan for dryland forestry.

viii) Kenya Climate Smart Agriculhrre Project (KCSAP)

xxxtx
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The Bottom-Up Economic Transformation Agenda (BETA)

The 7th Strategic Plan is anchored on the Institute's mandate and guided by the Bottom-up
Economic Transformation Agenda (BETA) and The Fourth Medium Term Plan 2O23-2027.

The Govemment's BETA aims to increase investments in at least five sectors envisaged to have

the largest impact and linkages to the economy as well as on household welfare. These include:

l) Agncultural Transformation and inclusive growth.

2) Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise (MSME).

3) Housing and Settlement.

4) Healthcare; and

5) Digital Superhighway and Creative Industry

The Institute will contribute to the BETA agenda as follows:

l. Agricultural Transformation and inclusive growth

i) Enhance development of agroforestry technologies and uptake in rural and urban areas

ii) Enhance trees in agro-silvo-pastoral systems.

iii) Undertake research on appropriate tree crop interaction in farm forestry.

iv) Undertake species trial on emerging plantation species in the drylands and the high

potential areas.

v) Undertake studies of govemance models in forcstry and evaluate their contribution to

forest management and livelihood improvement.

vi) Mitigate climate change through enhanced processing and utilization of biomass

energy.

vii) Enhance bamboo production.

viii) Improve the quality of wood and bamboo products.

ix) Improve bamboo harvesting and timber logging technologies.

x) Optimise utilization of timber and bamboo products

xi) Enhance management and control of invasive species.

xii) Improve forest and livestock management in natural forests and woodlands.

xiii) Enhance livelihoods through agro ecology.

xiv) Strengthen capacity and skills of stakeholden in climate change.

xv) Develop forest landscape climate change mrtigation technologies.

xvi) Enhance consewation of wetlands and riparian ecosystems

xvii) Enhance tree breeding and improvement.

xl
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xviii) Enhance forest germplasm and tree seed production.

xix) Enhance forest germplasm and tree seed distribution and conservation.
xx) Provision of forest as habitat for birds, insects, and other food crop pollinators.

2. Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise

i) Promote forest innovations hubs and link them to forest based rrdustries.

ii) Identify/develop and document forest and tree-based innovations for sustainable

development.

iii) Register patents on forest and trce-based innovations.

iv) Undertake studies on investment opportunities and models in forestry.

v) Build capacity of stakeholders on potential financing and trade options

vi) Enhance forest investment opportunities for livelihood improvement.

vii) Strengthen information exchange on commercial forestry investments and innovations.

viii) Link and promote developed products and technologies to MSMEs

ix) Build capacity of innovators and MSMEs

x) Conduct expert training in forest products developmcnt.

xi) Enhance Non-Timber Forest products development and standardization for uptake by

SSMEs.

xii) Provide raw materials for fumiture, tools, utensils, for cosmetics, wood processing,

curing and seasoning.

xiii) Contribute to employment to youth and women in Small and Medium Enterprises

such as soap making, food stabilizeN, briquette and Eco-stove.

3. Housing end settlement

i) Stengthen conservation and sustainable use of mangroves. Mangroves act as a source of

building materials.

ii) Enhance biodiversity conservation and sustainable use of woodlands and rangelands.

iii) Enhance forest landscapes restoration and rehabilitation.

iv) Enhance conservation of wetlands and riparian ecosystems

v) Enhance soil and water conservation.

vi) Strengthen biodiversity conservation and sustainable use of natural forests.

vii) Environmental education to youth and communities on tree growing as sources of raw

materials for housing.

viii) Provision of raw materials such as timber, poles, ropes, and gass.
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4. Health Crre (Forest heelth)

i) Surveillance and management of pests and diseases

ii) Contribution to the pharmaceulical industry through medicinal and herbal products

iii) conservation of herbal medicinal plants

iv) Establish lactating and baby care centres

v) Enhance provision of psycho-social support to staff

vi) Provide a clean, safe, and conducive work environment.

vii) Provision of water for domsstic use to both staff and local communities.

viii) Provision of forests that act as habitat for bees for honey and bees wax production.

i) Forest mitigates climate change thus reversing the conditions for disease bearing

vectors e.9., mosquitoes.

ii) Provision of forest that act as wind break thus taming down dust and at drift that would

otherwise cause diseases; forest has therapeutic effects on human beings particularly

stress reducing effects.

iii) Forest food production that includes bamboo, prosopb and indigenous fruits with high

nutritional values.

iv) Forest increases resilience and acts as safety nets during drought and lean times md

substitutes foods for wlnerable groups.

v) Biodiversity conservation improves pest control leading to improved and sustainable farm

production.

5. Digital Superhighway and Creative Economy

i) Develop applications to support research and dcvelopmcnt.

ii) Automation of Institute processes through the Enterprise Resourcc Planning (ERP) systems;

Finance & Accounts, Supply Chain Management, Human Resource Management, Research

and Development etc

iii) Automate the delivery and payment for services and products through online interaction

interface.

iv) Establish forestry innovations and incubation centres

v) Implement confcrencing solutions.

vi) Establish digital resource centres

vii) Disseminate scientific information through e-platforms,

I
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g) Major risks facing the Institute

The Institute is committed to risk management as an integal part of its corporate govemance and

operations by developing strategies and systems to minimize risks.

The Institute is committed to:

i) Developing a 'risk aware' culture in which people are encouraged to identify risks and

respond to them quickly and effectively.

i0 Ensuring our key stakeholders recognize that we manage risks responsibly.

iii) Developing consistent risk management practices

iv) Organizational growlh is cognizant ofthe inherent risks associated with stratery execution.

Key risks the organization is exposed to: -

i) Financial risk

The Institute's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit, liquidity, and

market risks. The Institute's overall risk management policies are set out by the board and

implemented by the management and focus on the unpredictability of changes in the business

environment and seek to minimize the potential adverse effects of such risks on the Institute's

performance by setting acceptable levels of risk. The lnstitute does not hedge against any risks.

. Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations

resulting in financial loss to the Institute. The Credit risk also arises from bank balances, trade

receivables and amounts due from related parties.

. Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will

flucnlate because ofchanges in market price and comprises two types ofrisk: currency risk

and interest rate risk. The institute is exposed to market risk because of transactions in foreign

exchange.

o Liquidiry risk is the risk that the Institute will not be able to meet its financial obligations

when they fall due. The lnstitute's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as

possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet ils liabilities when due, under

both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or at the risk of

damaging the Institute's reputation. The Institute ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand

to meet expected operational expenses; this excludes the potential impact of extreme

circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted.
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ii) Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the

Institute's processes, personnel, technolory and infrastructure, extemal factors other than credit,

market, and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and

generally accepted slandards of corporate behaviour.

The Instinrte's objective is to manage operational risk to balance the avoidance of financial losses

and damage to the Institute's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid any control

procedures that resfict initiative and creativity in the Institute.

lii) PoliticaUlegislatlon risk

This affects service delivery due to the uncertainty caused in every election cycle.

Change in Govemment legislation and policies affects organizations in implementing strategic

objectives.

iv) Information security Risk

With increased digitization, the Institute is exposed to information technolory risk of cyber security

compromises and fraud exposing KEFRI data assets to risk.

h) Mrterial arrears ln statutory/financial obligations

The Institute did not have any material pending statutory obligation as at the end ofthe financial

yeaf.

i) The Instltute linancial probity rnd serious governance issues

The Institute did not have any serious govemance issues as at the end of the financial year
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING

KEFRI exists to transform lives. That purpose is the driving force behind everything we do. It's

what guides us to deliver on strategy, putting the customer/citizen first, delivering relevant goods

and services, and improving operational excellence. Below is an outline of the organisation's

policies and activities that promote sustainability.

a) Sustainability Strategy and Prolile

KEFRI is committed to conserving natural resources by spearheading its sustainability through

the research prograrns. KEFRI Board of directors and management are dedicated in taking

cognizance of ultimate impact of our research programs. Initiatives undertaken during the

financial year 2022/2023 were as follows; -

r Collection and distribution of highauality tree seeds of various species amounting to

47,213 Kg to stakeholders to achieve the 30% tree

cover by 2032 from the current 12.13%.

o Five hectares of model demonstration plots of

indigenous tree species for rehabilitation of

degraded Mau water tower ecosystem was

Figure J Tree stett established. This was active restoration undertaken

in Mau Forest, at Kibaara in Kericho forest to act as

a demonstration site for rehabilitation degraded forest lands.

o 93 hectares of tree seed

stands, and seed orchards were

maintained for valuable tree

species such as casuarina, pine,

eucalyptus among others. These

act as conservation stands wherc

seeds can be collected ud
Ficuru l Tne secd onhart propagated to rehabilitate forests

and ensure sustainable tree seed sourcing. This also provides a measure to obtain seeds

of improved genetic quality and eases seed collection.

. Dissemination of forestry technology and information for adoption and up scaling

forestry development through l4 dissemination activities including ASK shows, radio
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talks, TV talks, newsletters, annual reports. These offered platform to showcase ard

disseminate cutting edge research frndings for KEFRI to the public.

45 publications were developed including: peer review joumals, technical notes,

guidelines and policy briefs to disseminate technical forestry research findings.

Capacity building for KEFRI partners and corffnunities for adoption and up scaling of

forestry technologies for environmental

conservation and livelihood

improvement werc carried out through

various trainings such as commercial

tree nursery and urban forcstry,

Payment of Eco System Services,

nature-based strategies on climate

change resilience and mitigation,

bamboo utilization and value additiorl

propagation and nursery techniques,

on-farm tree establishment ar.ld Figutc 5 Banhoo ptanrarion

management among other capacity

building activities.

Raising planting materials for difficult to propagate indigenous tree species - 80,095

planting materials tree species like bamboo seedlings, Yushania alpine, Yitex payos,

Melia volkensii, D. melanorylon, Zanthorylum giletti, Terminalia brownii, Maesopsb

eminii were propagated. This

ensures sustainability of near

threatened tree species,

indigenous fruit trees or those

with germination d ifficulties.

a

l'isuru 6 free Nurs"tt
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Developed l8 resource mobilization concepts to fundraisc for purposes of forestry

research on various disciplines such as tree health, biotechnology, pathology, wood

science, chemistry, tree breeding among others.

ligure 6 Fbest Pnxhrcrs naA lor
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b) Environmental Performance

The Institute maintains its focus on environmental performance with an emphasis on process

improvement, development of operational standards, improved service delivery and quality

audits across all functions. KEFRI has been certified to two ISO standards namely, ISO

9001:2015 andISO 14001:2015. Implementation of Environmental and Quality Management

Systems as an integrated system started in 2016 and has been maintained to date with the

Institute being certified by SGS, a globally recognized ISO ce(ification body. The KEFRI

management is commitment to effective rmplementation of the integrated system as evidenced

in the Environmental and Quality Managcment Policy. The key highlights in the policy include:

i) The commitment to establish, implement and review quality and environmental

objectives on annual basis.

ii) Satisfaction of customer requircments and compliance with relevant legal and other

applicable requirements

iii) Conduct its activities in a manner that enhances environmental protection and enhance

proper waste management stralegies.

iv) Enhance communication of the policy to intemal and extemal stakeholders to boost

effective implementation of the integrated system.

Areas of focus include -

i) Minimize carbon footprints through reduced energy use.

ii) Conformance to Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015) and Environment

Management System ISO (14001 :201 5)
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iii) Waste management mechanisms to reduce negative environmental impacts. This

includes hazardous waste, e-waste, non-hazardous solid waste as well as efflucrrt

d ischarge from laboratories.

iv) Awareness, training, and protection of envkonment

v) Compliance to legal and regulatory requirements regarding environmental management

vi) Safety Promotions and Campaigns

vii) Continual improvement through regular management reviews, intemal and surveillance

audits

Employee Welfare

The Institute has continued to attract, motivate, and retain competent human capital to ensure

efficiency and effectiveness in its service delivery. KEFRI successfully developed, received,

and implemented approval for 4 human resource management instruments from State

Corporations Advisory Comm.ittee (SCAC) namely: Grading and Organization Structure, StaIf

Establishment, Career Progression Guidelines and Human Resource Management Policies ard

Procedures Manual. The Institute also made concerted efforts to fill staffing gaps in its staff

establishment through the appointment of 83 new staff, staff rationalization, traiaing ard

development, mentorship programmes. The Institute also engaged 25 graduates on intemship

program and 321 students on attachment. During the period, 3 Research Scientists graduaed

with Doctorate degree thus bringing the total number ofPhD holders to 33 in the lnstitute. In

compliance with the one{hrd (lA) gender rule, the Institute staffgender representation stands

at 38% (Iemale) and 62% (Male).

Currently, the Institute has put in place Occupational Safety and Health policy and an

operationalized safety committee which ensures that matters on Safety and Health are

monitored, and management advised on the best practices and corrective actions. KEFRI has

also registered its workplaces and attained workplace permit from Directorate ofOccupational

Safety Health and continued to conduct annual safety audits and inspections. The Institute has

developed an Occupational Health and Safety procedure that is incorporated in its Integrated

Management System. The procedure puts in place all measures to address occupational safety

and health principles including occupational accidents, incidents, first aid, fire safety, safety

inspections, trainings among others and ensure safe working environment. All employees,

contractors, sub-contractors, and other interested parties have to adhere to Occupational Safey

and Health Act of2007 and permit to work issued for non-routine activities where necessary to

ensure adherence to safety standards.
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d) Marketplace practices

The Institute outlines the market practices as follows; -

i) Responsible Supply chain and supplier relations

The Institute has maintained good working relationships with suppliers by ensuring the

following.

o Payment of suppliers within a period of 30 days

o Ensuring faimess, transparency, and competitiveness in carrying out its procurement

where suppliers get feedback on the outcome of the process enhancing futrue

improvement.

o Sensitization of suppliers on procurement processes and govemment contracling.

o Continuous registration of suppliers into the Institute list of registered suppliers has

enabled good working relations.

. Filling of complaint forms which enables building of better relations with supplien.

. EnsurinB supplier evaluation and appraisal is done annually.

. Compliance with affirmative action in public procurement by reserving and awarding

30olo of procurement budget to Youths, Women and Penons with Disability

ii) Responsible marketing and advertisement

The Institute has advertised numerous tenders through MyGov and published the tendernotices

in Public Procurement Information Portal and KEFRI's website where suppliers are able to

assess the tenders within the timelines of advertisement, download the tenders without paying

and are allowed to register their mail address where communication can be done in case of any

clarification. Through the same portals, the Institute has also been able to publish the results of

the tendering process. Suppliers can monitor the procurement process and may request for

debriehng of the process.

iii) Marketplace practices

The Institute has been able to implement the PPADA,20l5 and PPADR,2020 and use of best

market practices in sourcing of goods and sewices. Market surveys are conducted to enable

comparison of prices for goods- enhancing value for money. This in tum allowed faimess,

transparency, and competitiveness.
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iv) Responsible competition practice,

The Institute registers suppliers for goods and services improving on faimess, transparency ard

competitiveness by rotating suppliers on need basis. This way all the suppliers are able to

participate at particular time until the list is exhausted. The Institute publishes tender reports

through website detailing reasons for unsuccessful biding.

v) Product stewardship

The Institute has been able to maintain product stewardship by ensuring goods and services for

specialized equipment are restricted to manufacturers and authorized dealers.

vi) Corporate Social Responsibility / Community Engrgements

We purpose to be a catalyst for economic change to those whom we interact with. Apart from

ensuring forest and allied natural resource protection and conservation, we also focus on

accelerating economic growth, human development and making a better life for our

communities. KEFRl'sCSR activities are making a significant contribution to the sustainable

dcvclopmcnt of Kcnya. By protecting forcsts. improving community livclihoods, anci cducating

the public, KEFRI is helping to create a more sustainable future tbr all Kenyans. In line with its

vision, mission and core values, the Institute focused its CSR activities along initiatives that

seek to promote a clean and healthy environment and reach out to the wlnerable society to

assist, both in material and non-material ways through the Corporate Affairs Office. KEFRI is

comrnitted to corporare social responsibility (CSR), and its CSR activities are focused on lhe

t'ollowing areas:

r F.nr ironmental protection: KEFR I works to protcct Kenya's forests and natural resources

through its rcscarch and dcvclopmcnt activitics. For cxamplc, KEFRI has devcloprxl

tcchnologics and practiccs for sustainable forcst managcmcnt, atlbrcstation, and

relirrestation. KEFRI also works to raise awareness of the importance olenr ironmental

protection arnong the public and policymakes.

. ( omrnunity dcrclopment: KEFRI works to improvc thc livcs of pcoplc living in arxl

around tbrcsts by providing thcm with acccss lo knowledgc. rcsourccs, iurl

opportunities. For example. KEFRI provides training on sustainable ft)rest management

and income-generating activities to forcst communities. KEFRI also supports

cornnrunrly-brscd forcst rnanagcnrcnt initiatircs.
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. Education and awareness: KEFRI works to educate the public about the importance of

forests and sustainable forest management. KEFRI does this through a variety of

activities, such as publishing educational materials. conducting workshops ad

seminars, and organizing public events.

. KEFRI has established several community trce nurseries, which provide seedlings to

communities for planting and provides training to farmers on how to integrate trees into

their farming systems. The Institute works with communities to develop and implement

sustainable forest management plans as well as support the development of forest -based

businesses and enterprises. KEFRI provides educational materials and workshops on

forestry and sustainable forest management to schools and community groups.

Moreover, the lnstitute KEFRI works with the media to raise awareness of the

importance of forests and the challenges facing them.

During the last furancial year, below are the highlights ofthe main CRS activities carried out

by KEFRI:

Distribution of 2.2 tons of tree seeds to

Technical and Vocational Education ad

Training (TVET) institutions. Event officiated

by the Principal Secretary, State Department

of Forestry Mr. Ephantus Kimotho on 9u May

2023.

Figure I Tree secd dt tibution

The Institute donated 150 kilograms of seeds,

equivalent to 2.9 million, as well as 290,000 potting

tubes for use by 28 TVETs in Westem Kenya on 156

April 2023. The event was officiated by the Principal

Secretary @S), State Department of Forestry Mr.

Ephantus Kimotho.

Ftguru l0 Truc tee.l dtntbunon u TI/ETS

r
(

a

\
\t



KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

\\\l \l l . l,{)l \\l) l l\ \\( t \t. st \ \ \t t (l[ l \ t \l,t. D ]rr r rt \t .l[r
2 million picces of potting bags and 1,067.7

kgs ofassorted trce sceds were donated to Tana

and Athi Rivers Development Authority

(TARDA) as part of 'The National Strategy for

Achieving and Maintaining over l0%o tree

cover by 2022' . The event took place on l2th

October 2022 .

Figur II lrtcRro\in(

FiyurL I -l Tht .10" o trt I o\H' [a'1,.\ rlatul l)i ct'!i't

1.2 tons ofSeeds approximated at Kshs.l9,

000,000 donated to 6 Kerio Valley

Development Authority Regional stations

countrywide. Officiated by the then PS,

Ministry of Environment and Forestry Dr.

Chris Kiptoo and Dr. Bellio Kipsang on l5rr'

July 2022

KEFRI in conjunction with the Ministry of

Environment and Forestry donated I million potting

bags and 22 I .3 Kgs tree secd to 100 schools in Nandi

County. Distributed to 4800 schools, 66 prisons and

over 200 community groups to establish tree

nurseries

I
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KEFRI donated 2 WaterTanks and 6,000 trce

seedlings including Vetiver grass to restore the Wetland at Enkongu Enkare Spring in

Naroosura, Narok County on 2d F ebruary 2023. The event was officiated by Hon. Soipan Tuya.

The Instrtute participated in World Clean-up

Dayon lTth Sept ember 2022 in Diani - Kwale

County. KEFRI donated 1000 pieces of

Mangroves seedlings to rehabilitate Kibuluni-

Shimoni degraded site.

Iitlw( ll Stqrotlnt! thc tomrurtrrt t) \rt'\t h-t\'.1
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rO. REPORT OF TIIE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended June

30,2023, which show the state of the Institute's affairs.

Principal activities

The principal activities ofthe Institute are to conduc't research in forestry and allied natural resources,

disseminate research findings, build stakeholders capacities and establish partrerships and collaboraE

with research organizations and instirutions ofhigher leaming in joint research and tainings as provided

for in legislation.

Results

The results of the Institute for the year ended June 30, 2023, are set out on page I

Directors

The members of the Board of Directorswho served during the y€ar are shown on page ix and x. Duing

the yearlhe H.EThe President appointed Prof. ErastusGatebe as Chaiman ofKEFRI BoardofDirecors

with effect from 28'h April 2022. Dr. John Waithaka, (PhD) was appointed to replace Prof. Erasts

Gatebe with effect from 28th July 2022. With changes made by the govemmant elected in Augrs 2022,

Gen (Rtd) Samson J. Mwathethe was appointed as the Chairman, KEFRI Board of Directors rephcing

Dr. Waithaka whose appointnent was revoked.

Auditors

The Auditor General is responsible for the statutory audit of the Institute in accordance with Article 229

of the Constitution of Kenya and the Public Audit Act 2015 for the year ended June 30, 2023.

By order of the Board

PHILIP M. KICHANA

CORPORATION SECRETARY

o",., !8lq3l??ll
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II.STATEMENT OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBTLITIES

Section 8l of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and Sections 14 and 15 of the State

Corporations Act 446, require the Directors to prepare financial statements in respectof the Institute,

whrch give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the lnstitute at lhe end of the financial year

and the operating results of the Institute for the year. The Directors are also required to ensure that

the Institute keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial

position of the Institute. The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the

Institute.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Institute's financial

statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs ofthe Institute for and as at the end

of the financialyear ended on June 30'h, 2023. This responsibility includes: (i) maintaining adequate

financial management arrangements and ensuring that these continue to be effective throughout the

reporting period; (ii) maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable

accuracy at any time the financial position of the lnstitute; (iii) designing, implementing and

maintaining internal controls relcvant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial

statements, and ensuring that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error or

fraud;(iv) safeguarding the assets of the Institute: (v) selecting and applying appropriate accounting

policies; and (vi) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors accept responsibility for the Institute's financial statements, which have becn prepared

using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimabs,

in conformity with Intemational Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and in the manner

required by the PFM Act 201 2 and the State Corporations Act. The Directors are of the opinion that

the Institute's financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of Institute's transactions

during the financial year ended June 30rh, 2023, and ofthe lnstitute's financial position as at that dats.

The Board of Directors further confirm the completeness ofthe accounting records maintained in tre

Institute, which have been relied upon in the preparation ofthe lnstitute's financial statements as well

as the adequacy of the systems of intemal financial control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that the Institute will not remain a going

concem for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

lv
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Approvel of the Finlnci.l Strtements

The KEFRI finsncial statements werc approved by the Board

by:

(-

Gen (Rtd) Semron J. Mwrthcthe

CHAIRMAII. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

23
and signcd on its behatr

Dr. Jenc lY. una (PED)

AG. DIRECTOR- KEFRI

Datc
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REPUBLIC OF KENYA

Telephone: +254-(zo) 3u r4ooo

m1i;y;ff:*"ff;::;::-" G& HEADqUARTERS
Anniversary Towers

Monrovia Street
P.O. Box Joo84-oo1oo

NAIROBI
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL

ti h u nc i n g lu not u h i I i tt'

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL ON KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH
INSTITUTE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2023

PREAMBLE

I draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts:

A. Report on the Financial Statements that considers whether the financial statements
are lairly presented in accordane,e with the applicable financial reporting framework,
accounting standards and the relevant laws and regulations that have a direct effect
on the financial statements;

B. Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources which considers
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices, circulars,
guidelines and manuals and whether public resources are applied in a prudent,
efficient, economic, transparent and accountable manner to ensure the Government
achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for intended purpose.

C. Report on the Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and Governance
which considers how the entity has instituted checks and balances to guide intemal
operations. This responds to the effectiveness of the governance structure, risk
management environment and internal controls, developed and implemented by those
charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective operations of the entity.

An unmodified opinion does not necessarily mean that an entity has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations and that its internal controls, risk management and
governanc,e systems are properly designed and were working effectively in the financial
year under review.

The three parts of the report are aimed at addressing the statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Auditor-General as provided by Article 229 of the Constitution, the
Public Finanec Management Act , 2012 and the Public Audit Act, 201 5. The three parts of
the report when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualified Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Kenya Forestry Research
lnstitute set out on pages 1 to 41 , which comprise of the statement of financial position
as at 30 June, 2023, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes
in net assets, statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and actual

Reporl ofthe Audilor-General on Kenya Forcslry Research lrslitule Ior the year ended 30 June, 202 3



amounts for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information in accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of the
Constitution of Kenya and Section 35 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. I have obtained all
the information and explanations which to the best of my knowledge and belief, were
necessary for the purpose of the audit.

ln my opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of my report, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Kenya Forestry Research lnstitute as at 30 June, 2023
and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance
with lnternational Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual Basis) and comply with
the Science, Technology and lnnovation Act, 2013 and the Public Finance Management
Acl,2012.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Property, Plant and Equipment - Unsupported Land Balance

The statement of financial position reflects property, plant and equipment totalling
Kshs.5,844,888,912. However, as previously reported, the amount excludes the value of
properties on various parcels of land measuring 2,847 hectares across the Country.
These include parcels of land owned by Kenya Forest Service, Maseno University,
Ministry of Agriculture, Counties Governments of Kitui, Lamu, Migori and Karura where
the lnstitute has a wood chemist facility.

Further, the amount excludes the value of the lnstitute's Headquarters which is built on
land registered under the Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources.

ln addition, title deeds for twenty-one (21) parcels of land possessed by the lnstitute were
not provided.

ln the circumstances, the accuracy, completeness and ownership of property, plant and
equipment totalling Kshs.5,844,888,912 cpuld not be confirmed.

The audit was conducted in accordance with the lnternational Standards for Supreme
Audit lnstitutions (lSSAls). I am independent of the Kenya Forestry Research lnstitute
Management in accordance with ISSAI 130 on the Code of Ethics. I have fulfilled other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ISSAI and in accordance with other ethical
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Kenya. I believe
that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my qualified opinion

Emphasis of Matter

Contingent Liabilities

Note 20 to the financial statements reflects contingent liabilities totalling Euro 333,167.60
in respect of ineligible costs incurred under Water Towers Project funded by European

3
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Union (EU). The lnstitutes Board approved the payment of EU claim in a meeting held on
29 June,2023.

The liquidity of the lnstitute is likelyto be affected if the payment is made to the European
Union.

My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, are of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements. There were no key audit matters to
report in the year under review.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Conclusion

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution and based on the audit procedures
performed, lconfirm that nothing has come to my attention to cause me to believe that
public resources have not been applied laMully and in an effective way.

Basis for Conclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with the lnternational Standards for Supreme
Audit lnstitutions (lSSAl) 4000. The Standard requires that I comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements
comply, in all material respects, with the authorities that govern them. I believe that the
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
conclusion.

REPORT ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE

Conclusion

As required by Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and based on the audit
procedures performed, I confirm that, nothing has come to my attention to cause me to
believe that internal controls, risk management and governance were not effective.

Basis for Conclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with the lnternational Standards for Supreme
Audit lnstitutions (lSSAls) 2315 and 2330. The Standards require that I plan and perform
the audit to obtain assurance about whether effective processes and systems of internal
controls, risk management and overall governance were operating effectively, in all

Reporl oflhe Auditor-General on Kenya Forestry Research lnstitutefor the year ended 30 June, 2023
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material respects. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with lnternational Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual
Basis) and for maintaining effective internal controls as Management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal controls, risk management and overall governance.

ln preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the
lnstitute's ability to continue to sustain its services, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to sustainability of services and using the applicable basis of accounting unless
Management is aware of the intention to terminate the lnstitute or to cease operations.

Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the
Auditor-General in accordance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit
Act,2015.

ln addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, Management is also responsible for ensuring that the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are
in compliance with the authorities which govern them, and that public resources are
applied in an effective way.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the lnstitute's financial reporting
process, reviewing the effectiveness of how Management monitors compliance with
relevant legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that effective processes and
systems are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to governance
and risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the control
environment.

Auditor-General's Responsibilities for the Audit

The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion in accordance with the provisions
of Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit the audit report in compliance with
Article 229(7) of the Constitution. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls will always detect
a material misstatement and weakness when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

Reporl oflhe Audilor-General on Kenya Foreslry Research Inslilu,efor the yeor ended 30 June, 2023
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ln addition to the audit of the financial statements, a compliance audit is planned and
performed to expiess a conclusion about whether, in all material respects, the activities,
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the authorities that govern them and that public resources are applied in
an effective way, in accordance with the provisions of Article 229(6) of the Constitution
and submit the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the Constitution.

Further, in planning and performing the audit of the financial statements and audit of
compliance, I consider internal control in order to give an assurance on the effectiveness
of internal controls, risk management and overall governance processes and systems in
accordance with the provisions of Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 201 5 and submit
the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) ot lhe Constitution. My consideration of
the internal controls would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control that
might be material weaknesses under the lSSAls. A material weakness is a condition in
which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not
reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in
amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal controls may not prevent or detect
misstatements and instances of non-compliance. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
lnstitute's policies and procedures may deteriorate.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

a

a Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management's use of the applicable basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the lnstitute's
ability to continue to sustain its services. lf I conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
I am required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my audit
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the lnstitute to cease to
continue to sustain its services.

Report ofthe Auditor-General on Kenya Forestry Research lnstitutefor lhe yeqr ended 30 June, 2023
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a Evaluate the overall presentation,.structure and content of the financial statements,

including the disclosures and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information and
business activities of the lnstitute to express an opinion on the financial statements.

Perform such other procedures as I consider necessary in the circumstances.

I communicate with Management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal controls that are identified during the audit.

I also provide Management with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence and
where applicable, related safeguards.

FCPA cBs
AUDITOR-GENERAL

Nairobi

16 April, 2024

a

a
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12.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCEFOR YEAR ENDED 3OTH

JUNE 2023

I lL I

STATEMENT 0F FINANCIAL PERF0RIiIANCE

FORIHE YEAR ETIDED 3OTH JUNE 2023

2022.2023

Kshs.

Notes

Ksh

2021.2

REVENUE

Revenue ftom non+xchange transactions:

GorcmmenlGrants

Extemal Grantfor Research

Defuned lncome from Donated asseb

Revenue from exchange f ansaclions:

$le ofGoods and Senices

IOTAL REI/ENUE

EXPENSES

Emplolee Cosb

0peratng Erpenses

Board of Direcbrs Erpenses

Eshblishment Cos(Sinking Fund)

Deprecraton chaee

Amodalion on lnhngible Asset

TOTAL EXPEI{SES

0THER GAIN$(t0ssEs)

Erchange Gain(Los)

Surplus(Deficitl for he Year

...s**-x..t*
Dr. Jane W. Njuguna

Ag. 0rcctor KEFRI

3

4

5(b

1,478,987,007

126,676,315

18,140,179

1,525,757,81'1

114,835,278

19,761,368

6

7

I

I

10(a)

5(a)

1'1

(1209,837,910)

(488,386,490

\7 227,1421

(5,000,m0)

(80,356,688)

(1,93s,504

112,316,746 117,633,923

1,736,120r17 r,777888,380

(1,207,442,826

(477,197,903)

(16'459,429)

(77,625,146)

,419,3n

(1,792,?{3,737) (1J81,144,682)

(5 ,163270) 1,668,565

(5,163170) (1,668,s6s)

(61J86,760) (1,824,867)

12

\

Dab
\{i5l

Date

>..:,S-

FCPA Rose osoro

DepdyDirecbrF&A

CPAK |h.:4555

Dab 18/0312021

Gen (Rfl) Samson Mwahetrc

Chairman: KEFRI Board of Drecbrs
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13. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 3OTH JUNE 2023

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAI- POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

2022-2023

Kshs.

2021-2022

Kshs.

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalenb

Receivables fom exchange fansactons

Receivables ftom non- exchange hansactjons

lnvenhdes

NON4URREI{T ASSETS

Property, Plant & Equipment

lnbngible Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

CURREITT LIABILITIES

Payables liom exchange tansaclions

Audibr General- accrued audil be
Unxpended Extsmal Donor Granb

Medical Scheme FuMs

NET ASSETS

Govemment Granb for capihl asseb

Dehred lncome on oonated Asseb

Sinking Fund

Revalualion Reserves

Revenue Res€rves

TOTAL NET ASSETS & LIABILITIES

Nobs

13(a)

14(a)

509,906,910 598,'185,826

48,326,314 35,994,466

14(b)

tc

5(a)

704,903

't44,379,080

1,271,339

145,626,635

703,317,207 781,078,266

11

5,844,888,912

7,742,W

5,765,320,360

9,677,510

s,852,63),919 5,774,997,E70

6,5s5,948,126 6,556,076,136

't6

16(c)

4

17

r8(a)

5(b)

10(b)

18(b)

18(e)

4,4p/,276

660,000

57,824,314

345,205

9,343,416

660,000
't 55,800,578

345,205

63,323,794 166,149,199

't ,598,7r 6,690

476,359,998

39,492,061

4,467,'199,488

(89,143,906

1 ,421 ,491 ,292

494,500,177

34,493.126

4,467,199,488

127,351,146))

{L

6,452,624,332 6,389,926,937

6,555,948,126 6,556,076,136

Gen (Rd)Samson MwaheheFCPA Rose Osoro

DepLryDirecbrF&A

ICPAK No.:4555

Date 1 8/03/2024

) r:.S-
Dr. Jane W. Njug

Ag. Drecbr KEFRI of DirecloGChaiman:

Dab.l

K
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15. STATEMENT OF C}IANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3OTH JUNE 2023.

mz2-2n23
Govemmenl

Grant3 tor Capltal
A3set!
KBha

Doferred lncoma Rovcnuo Ro3erve3

on Donrted

Aslols K3ha Ksha.

Revaluation

K3hs

Slnking Fund K3hs.

Tolrl K3hs

Balance ar at lst July 2021 .1,,167,'199,488 34,49i1,191 6,138,772,0141.1.r3.349.103 51il,261,545 (22,532,2791

Prior period adjuslrnent

(22,s32,2791 .1,467,199,i.88 !4,49!,1!!Aa r€atatod 1,143,349,103 514,261,5/t5

S uphrs,/(Deficit) for tlE yoar (4,824,467\ (/r,82ir,867)

Adjrrstrnerns

TrarEfers from SinkirE fr,ld
SinkirE Fund o4censos (1,065) (r,065)

AdditiorE dl.rinq the \r'ear 362,500,000362 500.000
(81,757,8111
(19,761,368)Deferrsd kEorne br tfle )/ear

184.757.A 11)itre
(19.76't.368

To tEorn€ &

1.O91,292 1,167 126B.lance rB at 30th Junc 2022 a9 3A7 81 57 I il6 199191 500 177

Balanco a! at l6l July 2022 1 ,121 ,O91 ,292 494,500,177 127,357,',t161 i1,i167,199,488 34,,493,126 6,389,926,938

Pnor period adj6tmern
126

al
81 2 L9t 500 177 4147 199I 091 7 357,146

(6r,786,76O1
a9 3AA! rDltrted

Slrptrv(Defcit) ior tt€ (6'r,786.760)

Adjustrnents

TrarEfers hom Sinking fund

SinkirE Fund eperEes (1.065) (1,065)

220,612,105Additions dtfi oofle 215 612
(37.987.007)

o6 8S 39,492,0619l 6 2 2I
1a 140 179

rdihrgTo trome & E

89 ,ta 67 {9998 71 478,359,998

(37,9E7,007)
(18,1iro,179)Dofened h,ome for tlle )car

B.lence e. ,t 30th Jun. 2023
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16. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3OTH JUNE

2023

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FORTHEYEAR ENO$ 3OTH JUNE2023

2022.2023

tloTES Kshs.

1,441000,000

215,612,405

121,397,425

128,847,323

4,495,0r3

2021.2022

Xshs.

1,441,000,000

362,500,000

129,136,819

1r 3,1i4,548

r2,451,710

20,816

\1,207,442,826)

{473336,431)

(r6,459,429)

(3,361,804

(1271,339

(21,999,110)

(9,584,502

Cash Flovs from Operaling Activities

Cash fom Recurent Granb

Cash from Dewlopmenl Granb

Cash trom donor granb

Cash receiptfrom cusbmem f:change

T ransaclion

Cash Bceipb from lnsurance

Cash receipb from emplopes

Cash paid b emplo)€es(Salaries)

Cash pard hroperatons

Cash paid b board members

Ca$ refund b donor

Cash paid bemplo)Bes as oubbnding

Ca$ paid bemplolees as oubbnding

Cash paid br hsurance (prepaid)

Cash paid b emplopes br personal accident

llet cash from openting aclivities

Cash Flows lrom lnvcsling Acticities:

Purchas ol pmpedy, dant and EUipmenl

Purchase of lnhngible asset

llet Cash from lnvesting activilies

Netincrease in cash and cash EuiElenb

Cash and cash EuiElenb atbeginning ofp€

Closing Cash and cash equivalenbatend ofpedod

JaneW tljuguna (

&. DiBcbr KEFRI

3

3

4

14(b)

I

8

11

(1209,837,910)

(493262,815)

lt,227,142)

(95,912,m4)

(213,040)

(491,863)

(29,140,960)

{3,620,088)

14(b)

5(a)

7't,616,32t 321,328,{53

(159,925240) (180,535,947)

13(a)

s9B2sr{0

(88,278,916)

598,185,826

180,535817

143,792,506

454,393,320

509,906810 598,185,826

-f,.s- y'

o,n F [91-\ a"o't

FCPARose 0som

[)eputyDimcbr Finance

lCPl( Member Number4555

Dab 18/03/2024

Ge(RU)&mson Mwahehe

Chaiman: KEFRI Eoard of DiEcbrs

Dab Et
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17. STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL FOR TTIE

YEAR ENDED 3OTH JUNE 2023
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18. NOTES TO TIIE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION

r. Incorporation

Kenya Forestry Research Institute (KEFRI) is a state corporation established in 1986, under the

Science and Technology Act (Cap 250) of lhe laws of Kenya, which has since been repealed by

Science, Technology and lnnovation Act No. 28 of 2013. It is wholly owned by the Govemmert of

Kenya and is domiciled in Kenya. The lnstitute's pnncipal activity is Forestry Research.

b. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation - IPSAS I

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the measurement

at re-valued amounts ofcertain items ofproperty, plant and equipment, marketable securities and

financial instruments at fair value, impaired assets at their estimated recoverable amounts and

actuarially determined liabilities at their present value. The preparation of financial statements in

conformity with Intemational Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) allows the use of

estimates and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the proces of

applying the entity's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgmenl or

complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are

disclosed in Note 2. (r) (i&ii).

The financial statem€nts have been prepared and presented in Kenya Shillings, which is the

functional and reporting currency of the lnstitute.

The financialstatements have been prepared in accordance with the PFM Act, the State Corporations

Act and International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The accounting policies

adopted have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

l. Adoption ofNew and Revised Strndards

i. New and amended standatds and interpretations in issue elfective in the year ended 30.Iune

2023.

IPSAS 4l: Financial

Insfuments

Applicable: ln January 2023:

The objective of IPSAS 4l is to establish principles for the

financial reporting of financial assets and liabilities that will

present relevant and useful information to users of financial

statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing and

uncertainty of an Entity's future cash flows.

IPSAS 4l provides users of financial statements with more useful

information than IPSAS 29, by:

. Applying a single classification and measurement model for

financial assets that considers the characteristics ofthe asset's cash

flows and the objective for which the asset is held.

. Applying a single forwardJooking expected credit loss model

that is applicable to all financial instruments subject to impairment

testing; and

. Applying an improved hedge accounting model that broadens the

hedging an"angements in scope of the guidance. The model

develops a strong link between an Entity's risk management

strategies and the accounting treatment for instruments held as part

of the risk management strategy.

The management is in the process ofassessing its impact onthe Financial

Statement and once completed necessary action will be taken.

IPSAS 42: Social

Benefits

Applicable: l$ January 2023

The objective ofthis Standard is to improve the relevance, faithfirl

representativeness and comparability of the information that a

reporting Entity provides in its financial statements about social

benefits. The information provided should help users of the

flrrancial statements and general-purpose financial reports assess:

7



e
KEITYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

\\\l \t Rl.P()Rt \\t) \\\( t\t.st \tt..\ .\t I.oRI.\ t..\l)[t)-10,'!.lt \t.]01.1

(a) The nature of such social benefits provided by the Entity.

(b) The key features of the operation of those social benefit

schemesl and

(c) The impact of such social benefits provided on the Entity's

financial performance, flrnancial position and cash flows.

The standard is not relevant to the lnstitute

Amendments b
Other IPSAS

resulting fiom

IPSAS 41, Financial

Instruments

Applicable: lst January 2023:

a) Amendments to IPSAS 5, to update the guidance related b lhe

components of borrowing costs which were inadvertn0y

omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

b) Amendmarts to IPSAS 30, regarding illustrative exarnples on

hedging and credit risk which were inadvertantly omitrcd whar

IPSAS 4l was issued.

c) Amendments to IPSAS 30, to update the guidance for

accounting for financial guaranteed contracts which were

inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

d) Amendments to IPSAS 33, to update the guidanceon classi$ing

financial instumene on initial adoption ofaccrual basis IPSAS

which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 4l was issued.

The amendments on the standards noted and adhered to

Other

imp ro vernents

IPSAS

t
Applicablc I1 January 2023

. IPSAS 22 Dbclosure of Financial Inlorrration about the Geneml

Governmenl Seclol. Amen&nents to refer to the latest Systern of

National Accounts (SNA 2008).

e IPSAS 39: Employee Benef*. Now deletes the term composits

social security benefits as it is no longer defined in IPSAS.

. IPSAS 29t Flnancial instrument3: Recognition ard

Mersur€ment. Standard no longer included in the 2023 IPSAS

handbook as it is now superse&d by IPSAS 4 I which is applizble

from l" January 2023.

The improvements on the standards noted and adhered to

8
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Early adoption of standards

The Entity did not early - adopt any new or amended standards in year 202212023.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Pronouncements from the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (PSASB)

The Public Finance Management (PFM) Act 201 2 Section I 92 provided the setting up of the ttblic

Seclor Accounting Standards Board (PSASB). The Cabinet Secretary National Treasury , gazetted

members ofthe Board through Gazette Notice No. I I 99 of28 February 2014. Following the Board's

approval on the adoption of the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards ([FRS) for state organs

operating as Commercial Business Entities and The Intemational Public Sector Accounting

Standards (IPSAS) for non-commercial entities, the Institute has adopted the pronouncemenE made

by the IPSAS board in preparation of its cunent year financial statements. The Financial Statemens

have therefore been prepared in accordance with the Accrual basis of Accounting Method undo lhe

International Public Sector Accounting Slandards (IPSAS)

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment- IPSAS l7

i) All property,plant and equipmentare stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition ofthe items. When

significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, lhe

lnstitute recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific usefullives and depreciates them

accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying

amountofthe plant and equipment as a replacement ifthe recognition criteria are satisfied. All other

repair and maintenance costs are recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred. Where an asset is

acquired in a non-exchange transaction for nil or nominal consideration the asset is initially

measured at its fair value.

ii) The Institute undertakes revaluation of its property (land, buildings and heavy machines

including heavy vehicles) after every five years per category of property, plant, and equipment

subject to funds availability.

iiD Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognized in the income statement on a

reducing balance basis to write down the cost of each asset or the re-valucd amount to its residual

value over its estimated useful life.

10
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The annual rates in use are:
Assets Rrte

Land

Buildings 2 Yzo/o

Boreholes, Water Equipment & Plant 12 yr%

Loose Tools 12 %%

Telephone Equipment, Apparatus & Instruments 12 yr%

Fumiture and Fittings 12 %o/o

Bicycles 12 t/rYo

Heavy Vehicles and Tractors 37 t/f/o

Motorcars and Motorcycles 25%

Computer, Photocopiers, Fax Machines, Calculators and IT 33 %%

Equipment

Medical & Dental Equipmenl 12 tAo/o

A full year's depreciation charge is recognized both in the year of asset purchase and in the year of
asset disposal.

iii) Donoted Assets - IPSAS 23

Donated Assets are deferred as income and recognized as such annually over their useful lives on a
reducing balance method. This is as stipulated by IPSAS 23 for non-exchange revenue. Their usefi.

lives are listed below: -
Assets Years

Buildings 40

Water Equipment & Plants 8

l.oose Tools 8

Telephone Equipment 8

Lab Equipment Apparatus & Electronics 8

Fumiture & Finings 8

Bicycles 8

Heavy Vehicles and Tractors 2.67

Motorcars and Motorcycles 4

Computer, Photocopiers, Fax Machines, Calculators 3

Medical & Dental Equipment 8
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) i) Intangible Assets - IPSAS 31

Intangible assets including computer software acquired separately are initially recognized at cost.

The cost of intangible assets acquired in a non -exchange transaction is their fair value at the daE of

the exchange. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accum ulaEd

amortization and accumulated impairmenl losses. lnternally generated intangible assets, excluding

capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in surplus or deficit

in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

Amortization is calculated on the reducing balance basis at the rate of20% overthe expected useful

life of the intangible assets.

ii) Research 8nd development costs

The Institute expenses research costs as incurred. Development costs on an individual project are

recognized as intangible assets when the Institute can demonstrate: the technical feasibility of

completing the asset so that the asset will be available foruse or sale; its intention to complete and

its ability to use or sell th€ asset; how the asset will generate future economic benefits or service

potential; the availability of resources to complete the asset; and the ability to measure reliably the

expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulaEd

amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when

development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of

expected future benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment

annually with any irnpairment losses recognized immediately in surplus or deficit.

(d) Income Recognition - IPSAS 23

Revenues from non-exchange transactions with other govemment entities are measured at fair value

and recognized on obtaining control of the asset (cash, goods, services and property) if the transfer

is free from conditions and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential related to

the asset will flow to lhe Institute and can be measured reliably.

i) Grants from the Kenya Govemment are recognized when received. Developmenl Grants received

for specific purposes are treated as capital grants and credited to the statement of financial

performance when the activities for which they were provided for have been undertaken.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The development grants that are capital in nature are treated as deferred income and recognized as

income annually over their useful lives on a reducing balance method. The development grants

which are meant for research are expensed within the year received.

ii) Donor/ Projects Grants are treated as deferred income and credited to Income & Expendinue

Account to the extent they have been spent, otherwise the unused balance is carried forward as

unexpended grants.

iii) Interest income Interest income is accrued using the effective yield melhod. The effective yield

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life ofthe financial asset to that asset's

net carrying amount. The method applies this yield to the princrpal outstanding to determine interesl

income each pcriod.

e) Inventories - IPSAS 12

i) lnventory is measured at cost upon initial recognition. To the extcnt that inventory was received

through non-exchange transactions (for no cost or for a nominal cost), the cost of the inventory is

its fair value at the date of acquisition. After initial recognition, inventory is measured at the lowcr

of cost and net realizable value. However, to the extent that a class of invenlory is distributed or

deployed at no charge or for a nominal charge, that class of inventory is measured at the lower of

cost and current replacement cost.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations, less the

estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to mak€ the sale, exchange, or

distribution. Inventories are recognized as an expense when deployed for utilization or consumption

in the ordinary course of operations of the Institute.

ii) The Institute's Forests Plantations are for research (experimental) and not for commcrcial

purposes. They are therefore disposed of after the end of experiment. The change in forest

plantations value within the year is taken as cost of sale less estimated cost of completion that

includes purchase of research materials, supplies for production and labour cost.

iii) Seed & Seedlings

The change in the seed and seedlings within the year is taken a s cost of sale and netted to production

cost which includes seed collection, processing, and distribution, and potting and maintenance of

tree nurseries.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Employees Benefit Obligation: IPSAS 25

Retirement benefit plans

i) The Institute operates a defined contribution Retirement Benefit Scheme for all its employees on

permanentand pensionable terms. The assets ofthe schemeare held in a separate trustee fundwhich

is administered by the scheme's trustees. It is funded by contributions from both the Institute

(sponsor) and employees. The Institute will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further

contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to

employee service in the current and prior periods.

The contributions to fund obligations for the payment of retirement benefits are charged against

income in the year in which they become payable.

ii) The Institutc has a Medical Insurance cover for its employees

(g) Taxation

The Instihrte is established in Kenya undcr the Science & Technology Act, Cap.250 and is exempt

from the corporation tax.

(h) Foreign Currency Transaction

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into the functional currency i,e.

Kshs using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates ofthe transactions. Foreign exchange gains

and losses resulting from such transactions are recognized as such in the year of the transactions.

i) Receivables

Receivables are recognized initially at fair value. A provision for impairment/Doubtful Debts is

recognized in the comprehensive income statement in the year in which the recovery ofthe amount

due as per original terms is doubtful. The provision is provided by identifying individual debtors

who are likely to go bad given the age of the debt.

Debtors who have been outstanding for more than one yearare provided for I 00o% otherwise written

off. Recoveries after write offs are recognized as incomes during the year received. Inter-

departmental debts outstanding at the end of the financial year are all wrinen off at the end of each

year.

fi) Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Currency

The financial stalements are presented in Kenya Shillings which is the functional and reporting

currency of the Institute, and all values are rounded to the nearest Shilling.

(l) Cash and Cash Equivalent

Cash and cash equivalenls comprise cash in hand and cash at bank, short-term deposits on call and

highly liquid investnenls with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily

convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insigni ficant risk of changes in value. Bank

account balances include amounts held at various commercial banks at the end of the financial year.

For the purposes of these financial statements, cash and cash equivalents also include short term

cash imprests and advances to authorized public officers which were not surrendered or accounEd

for at the end of the financial year.

m) Financial risk management objectives: IPSAS 30

The board has put in place an intemal audit function to assist it in assessing the risk faced by the

lnstitute on an ongoing basis, evaluate and test the design and effectiveness of its intemal accounting

and operational contlols.

The Institute Funds' activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit and liquidity

risks and the effects ofchanges in foreign currency. The fund's overall risk managementprogramme

focuses on unpredictabrlity of changes in the business environment and seeks to minimize the

potential adv€rse effect of such risks on its performance by setting acceptable levels of risk. The

lnstitute does not hedge any risks and has in place policies to ensur€ that credit is only extended to

customers with an established credit history.

The Institute's financial nsk management objectives and policies are detailed below:

i. Credit and mcrket risk mrnegement

The Institute has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay

amounts in full when due. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks,

as well as trade and other receivables and available-for-sale financial investments.

Management assesses lhe credit quality of each customer, taking into account its financial position,

past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on intemal or extemal

assessment in accordance with limits set by the directors. The amounts presented in the statement

of financial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by the Institute's

management based on prior experience and their assessment of the cunent economic environment.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements representing the

Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral

obtained is made up as follows:

The customers under the fully performing catcgory are paying their debts as they continue trading.

The credit risk associated with these receivablcs is minimal and the allowance for uncollectible

amounts that the Institute has recognized in the financial statements is considered adequate to cover

any potentially inecoverable amounts.

The Institute has a significant concentration of credit risk on amounts due from Receivables from

exchange transactions. The board ofdirectors sels the Institute's credit policies and objectives and

lays down parameters within which the various aspects of credit risk management are operated.

ii) Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the lnstitute will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they

fall due. The Institute's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will

always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or at the risk ofdamaging the Institute's reputation.

The Institute ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses;

th is excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted. All

liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by the board of Management.

All capital expenditures are funded by general reserves, and grants from the Government and our

development partners.

The table below provides a contractual maturity analysis of the lnstitute's financial liabilities

Ca$ albanks

ReceiEbles iom exchange t?nsactons

Receiubles tom non- exchange tanseclions

Total

20n2023

Fullyperlorming

509,$6,910

32217,542

704,903

2021.20n

Pastdue Fullyperloming

, 316,8138,433

16,108,n1 m,658,$8

1171,$9

Past du

15,$5,m8

512,8293ss 't6,108J?1 325165815 $,79E307
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Al30h June 2023

Financialliabiliths

Imde papbhs

fu dibr Geneml. accrued zuditbe

Papblesfom non+xchange tansaclions

Unpended Exbmal Donor Gtanb

MedicalScheme Funds

&12mmtr

6228,944

1!28,0U 6r/e5J03 tl11lt2 'r62J71,727

2022.202X

l{monhs

2021A022

Sl2monhs l{monhs

1,498,092

ffio,0m

2,996,184

$0,0110

3,114,472

660,000

57,824,314

345,205

1$,800,578

345,205
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SICNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

lii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk arising from changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices and

foreign exchange rates, which will affcct the lnstitute's income or the value of its holding of

financial inshuments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market

risk exposures within acceplable parameters, while optimizing the retum. Overall respons ibility for

managing market risk rests with the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The Institute's Intemal Audit and Finance Departments are responsible for the development of

detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by Audit and Risk Management

Committee) and for the day-to-day implementation of those policies.

There has been no change to the Institute's exposure to market risks or the way it manages and

measures the risk.

a) Foreign currency risk

The Institute has transactionalcurrency exposures. Such exposure arises through purchases ofgoods

and services that are made in currencies other than the local currency. Invoices denominated in

foreign currencies are paid 30 days after the date of the invoice and conversion at the time of

payment is done using the prevailing exchange rate. The carrying amount of the Institute's foreign

currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end ofthe reporting period are

as follows:

Ksh Euro. rate

Ksh.l2{.02

Dollar.

rate Ksh.117.83

At30th June 2022

Financialasseb - cash 8,369,483 17,375 52,743
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Institute manages foreign exchange risk from future commercial tansactions and recognizes

assets and liabilities by projecting expected sales proceeds and matching the same with expecEd

payments.

b) Interest rrte risk

lnterest rate risk is the risk that the Institute's financial condition may be adversely affected

because of changes in intcrest rate levels. The Institute's interest rate risk arises from bank

deposits. This exposes the Institute to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rate risk exposure

arises mainly from interest rate movements on the Institute's deposits.

Management of interest rate risk

To manage the interest rate risk, management has endeavored to bank wilh institutions that offer

favorable inter€st rates.

Fair value of {inancial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments not measured at fair value.

Disclosures of fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value have not been made

because the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

iv). Capital Risk Management

The objective of the Institute's capital risk management is to safeguard the Board's ability to

continue as a going concem. The Institute capital stucture comprises of the following funds

Ksh Euro. rate

K$.152.98

Dollar.

rale Ksh.l10J2
At30lh June 2023

Financial aseb -cash 8,808,119 1340 52,941

Re\alualion reser\,e

Rehined eamings

Capital reseM

Totalfunds

2022-2023

Kshs.

4,467,199,488

(61,786,760)

1,598,7'16,691

2021-2022

Ksh s.

4,467,199,488

127,357,1461

1,950,084,596

6,004,129,419 6,389,926,938
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n) The Institute recognizes the effects ofchanges in accounting policy retospectively. The effecs

of changes in accounting policy are applied prospectively if retrospective application is impracticaL

o) Impairment of cash-generating rssets - 1P.S,4.S 26

An impairment loss of a cash generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an

asset exceeds its recoverable amount. An impairment loss shall be recognized immediately in

surplus or deficit of the year and all other heatments shall be as permitted by the IPSAS.

p) Impairment of non-cash-generrting assets - IPSAS 2l
An impairment loss of non-cash generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an

asset exceeds its recoverable serviceable amount. An impairment loss shall be recognized

immediately in surplus or deficit the year and all other treatments sh all be as permitted by the IPSAS.

(q) Budget information: IPSAS 24

The origrnal budget for FY 2022-2021was approved by the Board ofDirectors on 25th March 2022.

Subsequent revisions or additional appropriations were made to the approved budget in accordance

with specific approvals from the appropriate authorities. The additional appropriations are added to

the original budget by the entity upon receiving the respective approvals to conclude the final

budget. The Institute's budget is prepared on a different basis to the actual income and expendihue

disclosed in the financial statements. The financialstatements are prepared on an accrual basis using

a classification based on the nature of expenses in the statement of financial performance, whereas

the budget is prepared on a cash basis.

The amounts in the financial statements were recast from the accrual basis to the cash basis and

reclassified by presentation to be on the same basis as the approved budget. A comparison ofbudget

and actual amounts, prepared on a comparable basis to the approved budget, is then presented in lhe

statement of comparison of budget and achral amounts.

In addition to the Basis difference, adjustments to amounts in the financial statements are also made

fordifferences in the formats and classification schemes adopted for the presentation ofthe financ ial

statements and the approved budget.

A statement to reconcile the actual amounts on a comparable basis included in the statement of

comparison of budget and actual amounts and the actuals as per the statement of financial

performance has been presented under page 5 of these financial statements.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continu€d)

(r) Signilicant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty: IPSAS I

The preparation of the lnstihrte's financiaI statements in conformity with IPSAS I requires

management to make judgnents, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounB of

revenues, €xpenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure ofcontingent liabilities, at the end of

the reporting period. However, uncertainty aboul these assumptions and estimates could result in

outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected

in future periods.

i) Judgments

In the process of applying the lnstitute's accounting policies, management has made judgrnents,

which have the most significant effect on lhe amounts recognized in the financial statemenls.

ii) Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the

reporting date, that have a significant risk ofcausing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

ofassets and liabilities within the next financialyear, are described below. The Institute based its

assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were

prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change

due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control ofthe Inslitute. Such changes

are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. IPSAS 1.140

Useful lives and residual values

The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed using the following indicators to inform

potential future use and value from disposal:

i) The condition ofthe asset is based on the assessment of experts employed by the Institute

ii) The nature of the asset, its susceptibiliry and adaptability to changes in technology and

processes.

iii) The naturc of the processes in which the asset is deployed.

iv) Availability of funding to replace the asset.

v) Changes in the market in relation to the asset.

s) Comparative figures

Wlere necessary comparative figures for the previous financial year have been amended or

reconfigured to conform to the required changes in presentation.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

t) Provisions: IPSAS l9

Provisions are recognized when the lnstitute has a present obligation (legal or constructive) because

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service

potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount

of the obligation.

Where the Institute expects some or all a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an

insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when the

reimbursement is virtually certain.

The expcnse relating to any provision is presented in the statement of financial performance, net of

any reimbursement.

(i) Contingent liabilities

The Institute does not recognDe a contingcnt liability but discloses details ofany contingencies in

the notes to the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodyng

economic benefits or service potential is remote.

(ii) Contingent assets

The lnstitute does not recognize a contingent asset but discloses details ofa possible asset whose

existence is conlingent on the occurrence or non -occurrence ofone or more uncertain future even6

not wholly within the control of the lnstitute in the notes to the financial statements. Contingent

assets arc assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately reflected in the

financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits or service

potential will arisc and the asset's value can be mcasured reliably, the asset and the related revenue

are recognized in the financial statements of the period in which the change occurs.

u) Subsequent events: IPSAS l4

There have been no events subsequent to the financial year end with a significant impact on the

financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

v) Ultimate and holding entity

The Institute is a State Corporation under the Ministry of Environment, Climate Change and

Forestry. lts ultimate parenl is the Govemmenl of Kenya.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTTNG POLICIES (Continued)

w) Sinking Fund

The Institute's Management shall establish a Sinking Fund account for the replacement of wom-out

fixed assets in future. The amount to be contributed every year for this purpose shall be determined

by the availability of funds.

x) Financial instruments: IPSAS 29

a- Financial assets

Initial recognition 0nd measurement

Financial assets within th€ scope of IPSAS 29 Financial instruments: Recognition and

Measurement are classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, loans and

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The

Institute determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that

are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequendy

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment.

Amortized cost is calculated by considering any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or

costs that are an integal part of the effective interest rate. Losses arising from impairment are

recognized in the surplus or deficit.

Held-to-maturity

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed manrrities are

classified as held to maturity when the Institule has the positive intention and ability lo hold it to

maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost

using the effective interest method, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by considering

any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integal part of the effective

interest rate. The losses arising from impairment are recognizcd in surplus or deficit.

Impairment of financial assets

The Institute assesses at each reporting date whetherthere is objective evidence that a financialasset

or an entity of financialassets is impaired. A financial asset or an entity o f financ ial assets is deemed

to be impaired if, and only if, therc is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more

events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 'loss event') and that

loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the entity of

financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Evidence of impairment may include the following indicators:

i) The debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty.

ii) Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments

iii) The probability that debtors will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

iv) Observable data indicates a measurable decrease in eslimated future cash flows (e.g.,

changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults)

b. Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope ofIPSAS 29 are classified as financialliabilities at fair value

through surplus or deficit or loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

The lnstitutc determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All

financial liabilities ore recognized initially at fatr vallue and, in the case of loans and bonowings,

plus directly attributable transaction costs.

Note 3: Transfers from National Government

ll0IE 3: G0ttRllIBtT GRAIIIS RECEIIID

20n2023

l(shs.

20a.20n

l(shs.

RecurerlGrarts

DevelopmentGrants

1.1110t00m

215 612 405

14410100m

3625mm0

Iotals

(b) Recognhed lncom

Recurer{ hcome I Epadfure

l)eveloptttefll (iranh lncome l(ecognrsed

1,[56,611105 r,803,m,000

1111m0m

37987m7

1441m0m

84.75i 81 1

Iolncomet Ependiture 1,178887,007 1,525,7fl,811

Defened lncome.Go( Developmeil Gra{s fu caprtd a$sds 177625398 2n7Q189

1,[56,612,105 1,803,m,0mTotals
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Note 4: Erternal Donor Grants for Research 202212021

KEI{YA FORESTRY RESEARCH IIISIMJTE

l: EmmUL miloR GR,0flli FoR RESEIR$ 2ml.2ll2

IoIIG FIMXOIL STIEIEI{IS (Cond rd)

Vrious Pd.6
(xs16)

16 DCm.tR

{rs}rs}

EMO A'C

6516l

ITYJIIED

PROtrCI

A/C{iQTS

(r$16l

u s00

PRO'ECI

{16161

dzPno,Ecl. tGtE/ REooillL

tmtuR naMllc

(xsrs) {xsr6}

IGTYATIbTER

IGIIYA IUTEN IOERS

TOVIRS PROJECI AIUPTATIOII PROf,gI

KITS tulD PRoTECI X SEilo C0 XEROA T0T[

[$16) (xsr6) (r$16) FonEsrRY (xsrB)

Bdnr.MuJUly202 $,1€66 qX{6S 1t5r,fi5 6t8,043 10,10,615 t,Eq2fl 1S.{t2 85,!fi,m 10,285,n9 (1) 1v26,9'r3 rs,m,tn

dri{ iE Yea 55,$5,392 3,ts7,192 $,S1,r3 21n 12,m7,7S t2t,s7,a6

b tre brcr (85,41,350) 110,2m,S0 (e5,

&.'I1ihGtuqMSg) 12,82,5m

x,v52n 8,3{5,274

(12,892,m)

r,Etr tom lbla fC

la6bl lom Eu! AiC r,n1,010 (r3,35,9r4 s1,611,sI

dudng h! Ylr t0,!!,t4 $q& psqr{ 6{q0$ u,{r,rn r,mr,6o 1S,{E2 5,061 (r) 2,012,20r rfi,26m

rl dung h Ye, 00,118,7S) (X56) (1,115) (618,0{3) {52,1S,115) 0,e1fi8)

1,,{8{,S1 1,m,78

G1m) (1,S6) (1,'85) 0 M 110) flq3r

9r1 3,214,i50

c,t as, Jli Jm

T,loqG tm 010 992 It 1t6 1t1,O1 t,ua,3fl
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NOTE 5 (A) FIXED ASSETS SCHEDULE AS AT 3OTH JUNE 2022
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NOTE 5 (B) FIXED ASSESTS SCIIEDULE AS AT JUNE 2023 - WORK IN
PROGRESS

Work -ln - Progross

Balancs b/fMd

Add: addilions wihin he year-

Vucrk-ln-Progress Gede

Vvork-ln-Progress Tiva ManagerEnt Phn -
Kitui,

U ork-ln-Progress M€ru

\fiork-ln-Progress Nyeri

lrlbrk-ln-Progress Vlhjir

Vt lork- ln-Prog ress KakanEga

\i\{crk -in - Progress.Lanu

\Abrk -in - Progress Marigat

V\brk -in - Progress Lodwar

\,brk-ln-Progress Garissa

\ 
'brk 

in Progress Maseno

\ir ork in Progress Londiani
lr1,brk -in - Progress-Migori

\ ,brk -in - Progress Taila

l brk -in - Progrgss. Green Houses Muguga
lrlibrk -in - Progress. Runuruti

lrl,brk -in - Progress Kibwel

\ brk -in - Progress-Rongo

\ ,brk -in - Progross-Chobororwa

\tuork -in - Progress-ERP

Addltions for the yoar

Total for the yoar

Transhr b linished bulidings

Balancs C/twd

(140,232,382\ (50 ,675,537)

2022-2023

Kshs.

95,078,609

95,0?8,609

2021-2022

Kshs,

54,450,317

54,450,317

14,942,013

17 ,291,459

284,600

9,202,717

451,434

9,508,957

495,433

2,642,134

465,433

9,438,066

14,714,022

277 ,250

9,376,708

7 ,221,791

4,851,865

2,898,73',1

10,293,824

204,431

1,755,449

8,604,799

574,785

16,781,850

5,017,'158

3,808,558

10,748,660

5,589,051

8,692,785

8,802,114

5,600,605

7,958,697

7,347,895

't,776,872

8,604,799

121 921 'r6

219,999 725

9l 303 829

1 45,7 54,'t 46

79,767,343 95,078,609
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I{OTES TO HE FIIIAI{CIAL STAT I S (Continucd)

l{ot.r
iOTE 6(e): SALE 0F GOODS All0 SERUCES

SCe ofFoostyProdrrs qb)

Otpr lrcomdlcndes and ilro ol Grorrds

lbmind lrromc (Rot l1tstr & Ect|clM
$rchaqes

Commis:ion lncqne

&s Chagc (lncone)

Sdc oI$rc
Hn dKEFR Facilities flc)
Oinic Rorcnre

llb hahcs q0
fto1rl Administalim Fees

Tohls

I{OTE 60): A1{ tYSlS 0F FOREST PRODUCE lttCOIE

Salc d Fccsty Pro&ce

Salc d Sads
lGrura Rotanc

Londiari lrrome

Gsdc lncome

Trrbo lnconc

l(brpi lncane

Kakamcga Resnre

Npr lncome

Kuja Rirer Reranue

Ranogi Raanr
Garssa Rarsru
Migori Reranu

T dta T arb Reranuo

Tobl

K)TE 6(cl: HIRE 0F TR ll{ltlG FACILITIES

Hilr o, Trairing F&ilii6 - Tnining{Mq'rg.l

lGri Raanr.e

Lodrr Raatte
Maript Raanrr
Lamu Raanuo

XEFRI Housa lrrome

Tohl

l@TE 6(d|: LAB ANALYSIS

Mqtqa Labcdry Rewrue

Meno Rei€nLB

Tohl

112,3 t6,716 'fi7,633823

2022.202X

l.rrhs.

34,516,019

760.0m

4.967,635

1.934,558

28.038

6?6.4b

9n
67 273.4fi

661,950

1.356.444

2021.20n

Frrhr

41.724.993

848.950

5,344.638

554.672

68473

745.795

39.150

67.146,357

N7392

753.503

425t 82
15258,676

5.010,424

2.13,..U2

s0.m0
1.18,175

1.487,670

284.S5

2107 2n
73.338

108.,100

43.200

748.$0

370.580

4267,/l{}3

25.G3,'/9

5,655,4m

1.123228

1.551.740

1?.240

124L8fo

387.5,10

666,650

59.745

57.@0

3550

5p.ffi
295,545

3{,516,019 {1,72t,993

17.743.81

13.163,303

7,516,35/

14.(X,259

92n,ffi
5.167,6$

67273,1s8

,s0,m0

915.444

13255,543

17.495,943

4,878,406

15.337,453

5,361,876

10.817.136

67,r16357

3958m

1,073,r 10

2B

r,t55,111 r168110
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KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contlnued)

2022.2023

Kshs.

2021-2022

Kshs.NOTE 7: EMPLOYEE COSTS Not6s

Salaries and Wages

GratuityCosts

Stafl Pension CosUAdm inisbaton

House Alowances

MedicalAlowance N/A

Oher Personal Alowances

Stafi l\,ledical Costs (ln-Palient)

Refund ofMedical Expenses - Exgrata

Lea\e & Passage beenses

Transfer Expenses

Group Life lnsurance Premium

Group Personal Accident

Group Personal &cident Premium- Casuals

Medical lnsurance Co\,er br Stefi

Total

t{OTE 7(b}: SALARIES & WAGES

Basic Salaries

Contactual Emplotee

CasualLabour

Total

The number ofemplo)€es as at

NOTE 7(c): STAFF PENSION

Pension Emplo)€r Cost

lnsurance Co\er br Pension

NSSF Emploier

Total

NOTE 7(d): OTHER

Honoraria

Acting Alowance

Hardship Alowance

Special DutyAlowance

lncenti!e Alowance

Entertainment Alowance

Resporisibility Alowance

OherAlowances

Risk Alowances

Commuter Alowance

Total

7(b)

7(c)

7(d)

724,421,241

18,855,262

130,952,620

139,354,067

25,500

92,137,843

351,925

243,925

5,406,235

3,451,876

6,372,980

283,830

87,867,600

731,590,548

20,390,354

126,728,137

138,370,521

42,900

90,412,7 49

1,408,026

5,099,134

2,526,590

4,104,239

1,275,852

137,038

84,756,738

1 209,724,904 1 207 ,442,826

689,417,092 693,739,367

35,004,149 37,851,181

724,121241 731 90 548

850

126.052.037

676,100

848

127,028,619

3,924,001

't30,952,620 126;r28,131

Kshs.

148,500

241,154

9267,771

746,394

8245,225

4.U2,672

8,929,890

6,117,694

2,781,038

51,317,506

Kshs.

436,344

8,240,344

445,029

7,993,926

4,391,229

8,326,294

7 ,289,621

2,633,745

50,656,217

92,137,843 90,112,719
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2022.2023

Kshs.

2021.?022

Kshs.NotesNoTE 8: 0PERATING EXPENSES

Electicity Expenses

Wabr & Conser\ancy

Telephone, Telex & Mobile Phone

lntemetCosb

Poshl Courier & Telegrams

Trarelling & Iccommodaton Ep€nses

Sfategic Pian

Extemal T raElling Cosb

Printing & Publishing

Subscdplion, Newspapers & Peiodicals

fuwrlising & Publicity

Trade Show and Exhibilions

Training Apens€s and IUachment fee

Cost ofConference & SeminaIs

Purchase ol Comn

lnsurance ofBuildings & Equipment

lnsurance of Motor Whicles

Supplies of medical Drugs

Supplies ofDressings

Fungicides & lnseclicides

Purchase of Utensils and Cudery

Purchase of Research Mabrials

LibraryExpenses

Food & Raton

Sbfi Uniforn Expenses

Purchase ofSupplies br Pmduclion

SbtioneryEpenses

Computer Expenses

Sanibry & Cleaning Material

Fuel & Lubdcanb Expenses

Bank Charges

Membership Fees b Sbtubry 0rganizalion

Legal oues, Abihalion and Compenvlion Paynenb

Conbacbd Prohssional Senices

8(b)

30,494,356

2,277,319

3,262,599

5,616,406

1,028,599

168,422,306

3,331,716

2,752,440

823,374

6,059,856

2,440,609

3,926231

662,600

464,000

1,944,628

564,345

1,381,657

26,797

312,075

339,339

4,181,118

38,390

37,538,543

1,441,914

63,915,906

4,490,604

5,467,092

3,761230

42$35,777

464,084

12,563,860

760,002

11,015272

21,846,100

3,300,270

3,056,008

10,054,595

801,859

107,407,004

6,134,930

3,938,847

2,205,564

1,039,001

11,071,625

2,354,372

5,202,166

485,07'1

625,292

2,5751.15

3099,340

1208,050

430,531

608,925

599,135

5,723,921

175,040

52,768,644

2440,378

76,660,866

4,488,435

5,347,410

4,340,913

30,422,437

1,368,001

3,498,942

6,885,442

15,521,116

8(c)

8(d)

8(e)

30



2022-2023

Kshs.

2021.2022

K3hs.llolE 8: OPERAnilG EXPEiISES (Conllnued) Notos

ArditFees

Security 0peralions

Write ofrBad oebb Expenses

Mainbnance Erpenses

Land RentE Rates

Donalions

Toblopcratjng Egens€g

NoTE 8(b): PURCHASE0F RESEARCH MATERIALS

Chemicals & lndushal Gases

Workshop MaEdals

Laboralory Malerials

PhobgIaphic EArdio Vsual Matsrial

Total

NoTE E(c): FUEL EXPENSES

Fuel & LubicanB Expenses

oher Fuels(nood, charcoal, gas eh.)

Fuel for Gonerators

Total

NoTE6(d): BANK CHARGES

Recurcnt

0elelopmenl

\hdous Projecb

Sinking Fund

Gold Plus $Vngs

Gold Plus Relenu8

KEFRIUS DollarAccount

EURO AC

KEFRI IT MIED PROJECT AJC.IIOTS

Bamboo Project

GIZ Pmiect Lodvrar

KEFRIREGIONAL TRANING

KENYAWaTER TOWERS PROJECT HOTS

AOAPTATION FUND PROJECT

KENYA WaT ER T oWERS PRoJECT MASENo

KEFRlEnbrpdse AC

COMMERCIA FORESTRY INIESTMENT

Totals

8(0

794,560

23,016258

776,000

23,123,118

69,000

53,004,381

176,000

2,363,431

40,170,604

1EE,366r95 177,197,903

1,486,488

828,567

1,123,538

742,525

2,423,086

601,912

1,218,147

r,480,776

a,'t81,118 5,773,921

39,914,528

868,700

1,852,549

27,832,640

1,148,525

1,441,272

12,635,111 30,122,137

352,752.25

17,388.60

11,963.40

1,065

1,065

24,127.15

2,505.16

4,'l'l4.58

2,141.68

3,704.60

3,863.00

2,100.17

1,665.00

1,185.00

33,303.60

r,08000

126'r,64'l

10,925

20 228

1,065

1,065

37,593

7,768

4,649

5244

4,665

2,312

720

1,065

1,985

700

6,376

164,0E1 1,368,001

KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

\ n tnr:r l Rt' )oIt iln(l l inrlll(ilrl \lalr.ln(Il\ lirr l \ l'.nrlrrl lllth.lun( ll)l.r
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tloTEt: oPER Tlt{G EXPEIISES (Continurd) 2022.2021

K!hs,

m.nn
Kshs

N0TE 8{e): C0IITRACTED PRoFESSI0NAL SERIICES

Canbacbd Prcfessional Sedces - Vbluaton

Contacbd Pml Serice$ oheB
Contacbd Prct Sedcee Con$rlhncy

Contacbd Pmbssional Sedces - EM S surEillance Ardit

T echnical S€ftices

Tohl

tlOTE 8(0; lilAlNTENrrtlCE UPENSES

lbhicle Mainbnaoce E.p€nses

MainbnanceofRa AMachinery

Mainbnance olFumiturc

Mainbnance ol Buildings . Residenlial

MainEnafl ce of Buildirgs and Sblions

Mainbnance ol Roads

M inor Abr-alions

Mainbnance ol Compubr Soff,vare

MainEnanc€ of Water Supplies E Sewage

Total

tl0TE 9:B0ARD 0F 0IRECT0RS EXPENSES

8,3851r7

61,000

496180

2,072,375

't1,015,212

17,006291

3,700,357

372,604

906397

13,485,076

89,061

35.000

1032,717

543,002
{0,'170,601

2,846200

8,739248

1,020,901

487,920

2,426,UI

15,521,116

21,044,016

3,572270

377,086

1,546,840

15,087,457

83030

92,550

7,613,411

557,713
53,001,381

Boad Cosb

Conhrences

5,370,713

1,856,399

11,915,573

1,137 240

376,616Medical lnsurance Cor€r for Board Members

Tohl 1227,112 16,159129

tloTE: l0{a) ESTABLISHIEt{T CoST

Sinklng Fund

Xshs. Kshs.

5,000,000 t0,000,01)0

The Estblishmenlcosl Elabs b he confibutonsbr he )ear b he Sinking Fund kcount Each !€a/s conhbuton isdepondanlon he a€ilabilityof

funds. T he fund is br fuUre replaceme0l on womout assb.

XoIE 10(b):$t{KlilG FUND Xshs. khs.
Eahncob, 34,193,126 31,191,i9l

Receiwd dudng he Yoar 5,000,000

AvallablGdurlng lhoYsar 39,193,126 3{,491,191

Spenl dudng he Year

BalencocJl

(1,065) ('r,06s)

39,192,061 U193,126

tlB: See Nob 2{v) T he fund was eslablished by Management hr he Bplacement ol wom out ixod asseb in fu[.]re. T he lnsljtrE confibubs a

debmined amounte\erytearb he fund acconlfu his ourDose.

tlolEll: INTAiIGIBLE ASSEIS. CoI{PUIER SorrwARE 2022.2023 2021.2022

Cost f.shs. Kshs.

Afre beginning ofhe tead,let 9,611510 12,m6,E87

ldditorsbrhe )Bar

, 9,577,510 12,m6,887

(1,935,502) (2,419,37nAnortaton on lnbngible lsseb - Soft./are

athelndof$cyi _1113!9! _!94!
T his Ept?s€nb cosb relaM b he acquisiton of com pubr soft art and expenditurc incurcd bwads enhanci0g and exlending h€ &refib and li\€s of

.nmn'dr si\,.d hmEh. hasn,t han ^'i.i..l .^a^if^.li^n.
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[IEI0Ilf tlilIot. $ |ffill(O'tlrd]

xmr mrmcfi.osl Itll. rh
w m.m

toEt cr$tr&lflIfl8fi{,t9r rI u}a(

hltdk*ftflf Etrt H l0r rh

p,Elru (l5lsl

w ntm

34104S

0fl7tr8)

5ffi2r5

0fi{,r!)

EdE$0n'

E$aftos

Idc

ftilsl

kdq.rH

\bffinrf6

$hngtud

CdR6SW

GdR6harr

l€ffiuSHaArurl

BJMM

IMIITOFOtrIM{OIS

UffiMNO.ICI

GlZhqdLdE

l€ruftnilr0ti0

I€ffiITAIERIOffiRMtrIXOIS

l€mmflAnfiru0

r€ffi oIt[RIt F0[$RrrirsTttr{t

ER.fllEMtr

Id

ffimff7!

111t115fl

7

lrBlr$1

116i{$11

116i5mr2

11m76(

ll0mxt2

1r0mffit

fl071t67

11omm

cfl36r5rR10?

ufrairc{

rl8n1,$?

ils{016

118910fi

11Hffii

nil,m

2fl17[,m7

fl${,CI[

$$2,ffi1

64$2ffi

Ir6iffi

7ffi257

106,ffi

0u21,&

lmr

tt/w

0,fl6

3,m

354,m1

limffi/

$,ffi,{s

m,7{r,15r

anSn

31,ffirfr

25,1Sfi

fis2n
62t{,ffi

2 r5{,8r5

018,0{2

l0,m,fl8

lm/il

t50,1&

6,6{1,ffi

10trm,

r(0

(0

(G

r(0

t(0

t(0

r(E

t(E

bq
(0

(0

filt

(G

(0

(0

r(0

2,042I1

rs$ ilt6s
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\rtrt rrll Rr'

IOTE l{: DEBTORS SCHEDULE (RECEIVABLES)& PREPAYilENTS

)r,r(:l|rl ] ilriln(ixl \txl(.llr(nl\ lor l \ t n(lc(l .1lllh.lrrnt ll]ll

14(a) RECEIVABLES FROil EXCHANGE TRAiISACTIOt'lS

Wahr and ElecticityDebtors

Kenla Foresl Senice

Plan lntema[onal

FAO Kenp

ICRAF

Worid \,lsion

SundryDebtors

KitriCountyGo\emmenl

Child Fund

lgriculUral Dewpt Supprt Pmgram.

TAIATHI

Pastoral Resilience

Eanngo County Golemment

TurirwelClP

GIZ SIF Programme

ILRI

IEBC

Gmob Kenp

Kenya Red Cross

Made Loreto

Friends of Lake Turkana.F0LT

IRC (lntemalional Rescue Commitee)

HomeshySafari Group Lld

Caholic Diocese of Machakos

KCB ltuiil,larigal

Kenp Rerenue fuhority

Arican Populalion Healh Research Cenfe

United Natons Ofice for Project Se^,ices

Turkana Countylssembly

Kitui Law Courh

l{otes

2022.2023

Kshs.

3,205,024

7,000

18,250

322,000

159,000

M,850

1,4'19,300

2021.2022

Ksh

2,719,846

97,000

18250

322,000

559,700

55't,700

292,100

391,750

117,000

679,550

2'r0,000

i9,840

1,650,750

302oo

421,700

33,900

129,000

613,600

33,000

50,920

137,500

100,000

10,000

81,500

30,000

50,000

70,400

222p00

954,350

210,000

79,840

895,600

30,200

421,700

33,900

151,850

870,800

33,000

50,920

137,500

172,000

10,000

81,500

27,000

30,000

50,000

70,400

315,000

131,500
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEIENTS (Contlnucd)

l4(a) REcEIVABLES FROII E(CHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Nrtional Ad Contol Council

Pure lliicrn Oclighb
Srpcom?
ADS Norh Rdt

Ccnt! for Enhrncin0 Democffiy
Turkana \bbrinadca
KOA,I

To$/er Tcch
Mini3tryof ,griculture-Tu*rna
KENGEN

KCSAP

Lamu Courty C'orrmment
NEMABaringo

Clreer centa
Sbb Deprrtnrnt of Hanning

rcTEDMrrigrt
SHA

Micro and Smrll Enbrpica
NA,ICHA

Legal Rclourcc Ccnte
Nicholas Si!no
Th! Nrlion.lTt!asury
ERLP

Ew!!o tlgiro Souh Oi AJhoriV
Rrlirf & Rccon OW OE
Rcconcile
Midrifl Hurinct
MGIC Nrirobi

CHEB KilJi
lirtoody \rV??d3

PA'IAF RICARE

CARIT'S
REREC

APAD

King Found.tion
Turkan! Unirrr3iv
rcDI/\OCA
Se!rch br Common Ground

Ethrcs rnd Antcorrupton Comrs3on

CRC-Uni\clSrty of Eonn

ACT
Sub- l otrl

PREPAYfE'{TS
Prapaid Mobr \ahrclc, BuiHing and Ferlonal accir.nl lnsurancc
Pl!par0 5(ln Maorca ln3unncc

uuo- t oliat

iGhs
504,920

14,000

226.500

66.000

.000

35.000
45,600

77 .450

14.000

181.500

66.000

54.000

35.000

45.600

77 150
582.500

252.000

190,300

lGhg

1 1 .000

60.000

192.000

r 65,900

100.000

450,000

480.000

s0,000
235,500

11000

36,100

428,000

154.400

270.600

70,000

25,000

71.700

800.400

r62.000
337.100

84.000

272,000

357,600

19.185.35/t

346,300

354,500

41 ,000

27',t 200
42000

332I00
123 200
180,000

1 54,400

85.800

70.000

r 3,995356

7151.760
21,989,200 21.999,110

29.140.960 21.999.110

190,500

192,000

177,300

100.000

450.000

136.200

36,100

890,000

325,300

354,s00

41 ,000

271 ,200
144,000

35
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IOIESIO IIf FXArcNL SAIEErIB lrld)
l.B

L{D|RGCEiAE ESmfl xIL ExctlmE IRAlt|mTOilgGa
Ila.lir! hFe{
Caoon $ecd lmgs{

9daayrn ldsre
SaEyfdtsEe

ToEa

Toblllfi.s

xn21it3
Iclls.

r92010

21.m
23r.{66

260.397

,iaz2
ItlI3.

349,7m

7{q962

ta{c)AOll8 Aml-!E.9 FOR RFCEmE-ES FmI EXCIU,.(I[ IRAxSrCnC.!]
Xrll3
ClrI. t oltl tot l

o..ricim Ff z@gB
L€sslhal)s 12.e9,2./l SOge

f.irEa l-2!aa6 4,719,(E0 25%

8aEr 23 )ss 6S,8m 396

Or3 )effi 1,16,260 6a,6

1.71.6n

?a{s3 r 27r,rB
a.03ri, 3?ra6,r5

IG:
Ccfdivr
flz{}talt,2

3,7026{6
1.013,m
2,66q75O

6,610,960

.f ol l|. bta

2696

79a

tgt6
a7!6

Tot a l9,t6,ttt to* 13,S1l5a

t4{qAortG AlgLyltBFoR REcEiaaLet Ror ror}Excrl^reE rn ll3 crots
lGa!. loL
Cur.nt t oltrtoal Cop:edw a olt bti

O.€rlFioo
L€.sth i)s
E usr l-2)cfls
8dr€gl23)ss
Os 3 leas
Totl 7U,$3 rr* r.artr3s rI*

F\7CI,IGB
7& $3

fl24fig2.
1,271,3$ 10096

- 09a

-0
-0r

tmt6
096

0%

0c6

IOIE 15: ]IIE|TOEES

Dr.gs & Ot!.(irgs

OleryE utrdb
Laboreffyolgllrc*

M$l.
Sfpa€s fo( Fld.m.r
LrrbrnsS frlngB
9adDrl,cdnFlf fcc€as.rrs

llob. \Eale SFo PaB e Fud

IHU\Iae, EhcftasE ft l! rrar€rds

*eG E Se€{fngs
Fo(a HxaaaqR

Tot|

XrlE lclr3

292088

| (exi)

sfl.5o5

10166

r0670

27,339

G11.700

106.m

3,.167.329

ltxm
3,0a7,793

6.6847{8

e.600,541

t{,37q0

4)0.M
63.576

60,908

2.38r,23r

72ofi

6,110,26

75.'(},|,381

s.686. r 60

r5,@6,(35

13:tue l (e)r0 Tta Ml,3s ForEgs Phaqr as br rsEh grpGes (oSeim€ltB)ad tufccqnmecld use

ThaC aa.o.ls ars hanrsd d tts crd d no s{onme.rl lEtrot€ pocsur d IPSAS 27 a€ ln appac€Uo
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l'lOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEiIENTS (Continued)

NOTE 16: CREDITORS SCHEDULE Notes

SundryCreditors - Merchants

,Accruals - (KPLC)

lnsurance Compensaton

Miscellaneous Reco\ery (Unpaid June BTLs)

Totals

NOTE 1 6(b): MISCELLANE0US RECOVERIES

KEFRI Sbff Welture Society

FamilyRemittance

Londiani Welhre Society

Uni\ersity loan(HELB)

T rade Union (UNRISK)

Ala Cooperaliw

Jubilee lnsunance

CIC lnsurance

NARC - Rent

Saham lnsurance

Director NVRC-House & Electricity Charges

PS Min.ofRoads & Pub. Worke Renl

Unaon ofci\,il se^anb

COTU

Kenya Probssional Assocjalon of!1,bnEn in Agriqrfure

KENASA

Tolal

N0TE 16(c): Auditor Genoral- accruod audit fee

Arditor General- accrued auditfue

N0TE 17: KEFRI MEDICAL SCHEME FUND

Items contributing to Fund balance:
Contibulion to he Fund

Items Reducing Fund balance:

Medical scheme refunds to emploJees

Bank charges

Reduction to tho Fund

Fund Surplus(Deficit)

Currenl Assets:

Cash at Bank

oebtors: GoldPlus Savings Account
Fund Net Assets

Fund Balance as at 01.07.2022

Surplus (Defcit) forhe )ear
Fund Balance as at 30.062023

1,491276 9,343,116

183,601

20,000

130,137

924

27,870

1,200

72,230

183,000

106,969

49,400

46,560

35,200

15,900

8,400

2,299

1,200

5,800

554,161 336,529

16(b)

2022-2023

Kshs.
990,616

55,'t'1 1

2,894,388

554,'161

2021-2022

Kshs.
4,702,857

1436,822

2,867,208

336,529

660,000 660,000

1,065

5,788,044

1,065

1,065 5,789,109

(r,06s) (s,789,109)

23,777,221

345,205

21,122,126

23,778,286

345,205

24J23,491

24123,491
(1,06s)

29,912,600

(s,789,109)

24,122126'. 24,123,491

KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE
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\nrrual Rr )oIt.u)(l I illxnci:rl \lill(.lll(rt\ lor l \ l.nrlcrl .lllth,lrlll( ](ll-l
IIOTE 1l: Nrtura and Purpo!. of R.3.rY.!
The ln3litrb croebs end meinbins ms6r\€s in lBrmsofspecific reqlircments,

2021

KiGovarnmantGnnb forCa Aaaat. /Donrtlon.

TAL GRA}ITSDEFERREO INCOXE & RESERIES

0) tlohmd lncomr ftom 6oy.mm.nt Grantt lor C.pltal Aa!.b 2022-2023

Xaha.

BrlancabrM

TransfeBfiom Sinking fund

lddifions ' 3

B.hnc.C/d

(a)(il)Dafirad lncoma fiom Edomaloonora on ooneled 4.3.t

B.l.ncabrH
D€llBred hcom6 5(b)

BalancaC/d

(b) Ravduallon RoaarYar

1,121,091292 l,'l{t,3/t9,103

177,625,398 277,712,189

716.690 r121,09t292

494,500,r 77 5r4261.545

09,761,368){18,140, 179)

a76,359r98 401.500.177

The R€\€luelion Resgnns cabl br he ll€lued amoonlin ho cost of P.oper9, nanlandEquipmentTho amounl in ho Ros€fte kcountinclodes

rc\aluad amountofh€ lnstituto's land aod buildings es indical6d below:

REVALUATION SURPLUS RE8ER\IE

LANO PARCEL NO,

2N77

23879

23883

TOTAL

SUlLDlllGS Ol,l LAI{D PARCEI llo
2*77
23879

23883

TOTAL

ToblGaln on ruY{urdon
Ro\6luaion oo h6avyshicies

Balanc. br lA20l3
R.Yalu.tlor g.lnon L.nd

l,los. 238772337923883 Muguga

Nos.24600 Ktui-Ti\6

Block11l121 Kltui-Hqb

2S,03/rS99

29n311

ao3/1

2S,03/1

2903/t

29n3n

999

30/62013

3062014

30,t2014

3082014

Ravalurlion gain on Bulldln0a
Muguga Hb/Seed Conf€

Ktur-HqsrftJiT i6
30,62014

30162014

Ro\alualion gain bl h6 )6er 201i|

Bal.nc. c/l 301Gj20 14

(b) R.v!l!.0on Ra!.'Y.. (Contln|lad)

The insttuts hes he lrlowing t'te doeds:

Locallon

Norh ltbst ol Xihrlar Township

Norh \tred ol rchjyr To*nsl p

Norfi W6at ol Kiloy, T oMship
Klangwhla^, is6wani{tri

L-R.No.

23879 n 77{68

23883 R 79467

23877 tR79471

K)€ngwihr€nl is€,ra

ni/1114

Loasohold land lll
127.81o.k11h27

Leas6hold land eI
21600 R 86318

HecLra3

122.fi
1666

134.60

Xibi MuncipalitfKtui

020

6.06

Kitur-Ti'a 1,15090

u61.32

0.70

I

Total

S& Tllla butro valuatlon ffgur.
Kamagambo

Tot l sith Tld. D..d!
Migori

.n2
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tl0IES T0 THE Flt{AtlClAL STAIEIIEMIS (Continuedl

ll0IE 1E: llature and Puryose ofReseres (Continued)

Ihe hslitub does nothare orlrnershipdocumenbbrhe land amounlingb l,$5.01 hechreswhere ithas putup derelopmenb.The

dewlopmenb are on gaabd fue$.The ln$tub hasacquired Eecifc use lincenseaspertr FomstConsenaton & Managementfut

Region

Rifthlley

Londiani

Iurbo

Marigat

Lodwar

Size in Hecbres

500.00

1m.00

4.45

2.70

607.,l5

Central Highlands

Muguga

Nieri

Rumuruli

220.00

50.00

9.71

219.71

CoasblRegion

Gede

Lamu

Iaib Iareh

200,00

1.78

4.05

205.83

Lake Basin

Maseno

Kakamega

Migori

Ramogi

Kup Ri,cr

4,05

50.00

4,45

100.00

8,09

't66.60

Drylands

lftri

Gadssa

Wajir

l(bwezi

Hola

0.28

213

2,02

100.00

21.00

125.73

1,^385,0,|

2n47.03

Grand lohl wi$out tfl e d*ds

Grand lohlofLand

KENYA FOR-ESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE
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I{OIE l8: l{ature and Purpose ofReserves {Conlinued)

plSinking Fund (&e liote l0(b))

The lnsljtrE s€b a$de a debmined amounlofm0neyewryFar fr0m ib inhmalsounes b fie fund accounthr he pup0se 0fpurcha$ng and

2022.2023

Kshs.

2021.2022

Kshs.Sinking Fund

EalancecJl $192,061 31J93,,l26

(dl Eiemd GranE Reserve

Ihe Extemal GmnlResene capures he un$entDonor Funds. [,|0sl olhe D0n0r Gran8 c0Er a penod 0lorer one )ear. I is on his basis hal he

(el Accumuhted Surplus / (t)ef cill

fucumulahd Oefcitis asa resullofhe depreciaton chape per!€arrlhich does notha'c anymonelaryeftcton lncome and Ependifurc stbmenlAry

31193,126 34,494,19r

5,000,000

Balance b/l

Receiwd dunng he Year

Aailable dudng he Year

$rcntduingheYea

$193,126 31,191,,191

(1,065) (r,065)

2022.2023

Kshs.

202t2022

Kshs,

Accumulated Surplus / {Defi cit}

Balancec/l ____l!!,!!l0 ___giqJq
tl0IE l9lPSAS 20 Rdated Party Disclosurcs

ilature of relabd parly rehlionships

Enttes and ohu parlies elaled b he lnstUle indude hose padjes rvho har€ abilityb exeoise conholfiexenrse srgnifcanlinfiuence owr ib opemtng

GovernmentofKenya

The Go|emlllent0fKenla h he pincipal$areholder0fhe lnsttub, holding 100% 0lhe lnslitjte s equityinbnst oher relaled partesinclude:

i) Ihe Ministyof Enlironmenland Foresfy i$ Keymanagemnet

ii)The NalionalTreasury $ Eoad olDircclors

iii)(enp ForestSenlce

1,786,760 (4,824,867)

127,3s7,r16) (22,532179)Balanceb/[

fujustnenb

&rplu{Def cit) brhe Year

2022.2023

Kshs.

2021'2022

K$s.REI.ATED PARIYIRAilSACIIOilS llohs

Remunemton and ohercost ofBoad of l.lanagement

T mnshs tom GoK- M inisty of hionment and Forcsty

Salaies and otcr stff em ploynent benefib of Senior M anagement

SbflreceiEbles

Iotal

N0TE 20: Contigent [iabilities

The lnslifub 'lJishes b discl0se an amount0f Eum 333,16750 being an ineligibh cosb incuned under he ll/ater Toren Project .The amounll{as

incured ouNde 0fhe contraclagreement 0n ineligible expenses and pmcuremenl0fMobrVehicles. The anl0unh oughlb k refunded b Eumpean

Union byhe lnslitub.lGFRlh c0nsul[ng wih he par8nllJinistyand t'{atiollalTreasuryon amicable setemenlbetween he partes

I
3

I

14b

t,676,612,829 t,8$,305,196

7 227J42

1,6$,612,405

12,m8,379

704,903

16,159,129

1,803,5m,000

12,074,128

12n,$9

KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE
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I9. APPENDIX

Appendix l: PROGRESS ON FOLLOW UP OF AUDITOR RECOMMENDATION
The following is the summary of issues raised by the extemal auditor, and management commenb
provided to the auditor. We have nominated focalpersons to resolve the various issues as shown
below with the associated time frame within which we expect the issues to be resolved.

r) Reference No.
on the external
rudit report b)
Issue/Observation
lrom Auditor

Management Comments Focal
Point

person to
resolve

the issue

Status -
Resolved./Nol

Resolved

Remarks/Time
frame

202112022 Report.
a) Property, Plant
and Equipment

The value of the land equivalent tc

1.385.01 ha was not recorded in th€
fixed assets register nor reported in

the Financial Statements. This is

due to lack of Title dee&
(ownership documcnts). As
explained in previous responseE fte
Institute has been pursuing the issue

of land with KFS. With the neu
conservation and Management Acl
2016 part l, which defines KEFRI
Mandate, we expect l0% of KFS

land to be set aside for forestry
research in future

Director
KEFRI

Resolved Institute has
acquircd
specific use

license as per
Forest
Conservation &
Management
Act for land use

on forestry
research

b) Inventories The valuation of inventories ol
Kshs. 145,626,635 on Seeds

seedlings & Forest plantations wer€
not fairly stated

Director
KEFRI

Resolved For FY
202212023, tht
valuation har

properly beer
done.

c) Extemal donor
r€search grants

A variance of Kshs. 1,417,271 has

not been reconciled or explained
with NEMA

Director
KEFRI

Resolved Reconciliation
between NEMA
and the Institr.t(
was done

Gen (Rtd) Samson J. Mwathethe

snTr#Tq"2:+:'""*'::'
Dr. Jane W. Njuguna
As. Director KEFRI
D;,, ... bgltr\aou4 .
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Appendix II: PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED
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lr lid
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I& ri lr lYrl i.ol! Ito

TIs
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ILC-

ti Br ll'crr
It ta

Ito

tTt

I
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ST.{.TUS OT PROJECTS CO}TPLf TIO]{
18 (.rlr,f rk.r 318 8i0 48 ?00 l5 31r-850 .18 rx) CA-B I I cm2rid,
19 Forrlrttrrn F riklnr 2 rc9 m0 &18 800 l9 2.199900 &r8 8m IIED

) 9) 571 ) m6 150l0 lir.bn-Ck-Gcrf tl 2fib77 1@6 t 50 Universiv of
l5 687036 8 180 572 51 l5 tt87 S I 180 57?tl ucli

1170747 I r l.r 111 0t t.t70.717 I ll{ lt1 ,ICA
l3 Dznrn l0 G3196 .r r07jc7 . r0.fi336 .1 107J97 IIED
24 Thr\:trrrCmzn 5185m 0 538.600
l5 1 n1767 U 0 1.n1.761 EU

RiaGrl .l (en: 3 216 )Oi 1 735105 lrnl6 336:0s 3fl610s
71 Il ft \ C:rr - Prrelue f)f (invla it6 l rn i61mal 00 566.100 ffl)rn UO\
t8 \fidqtn' f}f Fn;or' - I( zrrrr t 108 580 0 0 1..88J80 voE
29 Frrre<t C*rzins \lznao.rrrrr Dlrn l 017 825 1 79242 5 o3 l,9l 7,8? 5 1r9a45 USFS

5 t1045? t0cnl 5.130..15230 CaRh' 80 s1
ll IIni.x<ivf)fFrli*nro l r88 xx) 0 0 1.,188:00 UOE
3l Flralr I ) 802 500 r2 801500 100 u.892i00 't) 80) vx) U)iDP

,r7)ir5 r(n33 F A I Dr n,rrlYYr )2 172515 'i1,171515 ,)1 
172 il5 Drh gno

l.l (-^rrr"rnial F^rl &rv 3 010 6)l ) 68) 6:)l 80 3.010.61 r ) 68:! 6)l Variqrs Dmcrs

35
&tl2leioo d wetcr ltf'&arrs in \luglge rrd Kitri 105.m0,0@ {5.m0.00

.{3
.m0.m0

500,0@ GOK
CoDstructir of Ghss Horscs{.cgilel ceam s 130,m0,0@ 752)0.m0 58 j.m0.@0 t:50..0m @I(36

31
Comtuctio ofFarnrr's R.sc:rcc Ccfrers itr 148,m0,0@

175 250,@0
i0 5,mo,@o 150.00 @K

l8
Corrrnroian of Frmrr's Rc sanlfe Cencrs in 217.m0,0m 81 750-@0 38 5.@0.@0 1250,0m @K
DerrbFneat of m'A Fffest:s a cente of I15.m0,00 l70J@.0o 79 {,@o,mo I,m,0@ @K39

{0 Dcrebgncnt of For6t R. search Tcchmbfi. s lJ5.m0.@0 193J00,m0 l4 20,m0.@0 5.m0.0@ @K

215,00,00 lG.@0-m0 92
@.@0.m0 30,m0,m0 @K1l

Natinal Trec &oriog ald R:lgelad Rcsbreticn

.ll Coosuuctio of roe sccd process ry udts (SarIeti lJ15,m0,m0 519,@,@0
.10

:80,m0,@0 70,m0,m0 @K

219]9m5
5362,,O5

t9 27939:05 5J61,tO5 GOX13 -.-r* -..r !tl'-.- n--L-i-
Coosuucrio of Bachdcx .\-uscr)', q'rter Sryplv

ToEl rJ335t33la l-{69J5993t 53{.6t3J16 210r5r.93{

KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

\rlluill l{e )ort xn(l I inxr(iirl \lxt(tlrcrl\ lor l'\ l'Ir(l('(l .lllth.lrrrrt llll.l

Tbc \rtre Corcn:

G{TSBI'Inrm2tic

45



KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

\fllluxl ltrl)i,rt xn(l l irxncirl \lr((.[r(.nt\ lor l'\ l'll(l(.(l llllh .lurrt ]llll
Appendix [I- TRANSFER FROM OTHER GOVERNMENT ENTITIES

f uoflb llDADor
InBtnil$.m

SbttRtcatd,froled

Drt rctd s pc
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Appendix\ll: TRANSFER FROM MINISTRY OF ENvlRONi,lEt'lT, CLlltlATE CHANGE & FORESTRY lN THE

Ftt{ANCtAL YEAR 2022.2023

NA}lE: KENYA FORESTRY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

Break down ofTransfers from the Mlnistry of Environmont, Climatc Change & Forestry

FY 2022n023

a Recurent Granls

lndicate the FY to whlch th6 amounts relatoBank Statement Date Amount (KShs)

22t08n022 360,250,000 2022n023

21111n022 360,250,000 2022n023

2022n0233-Feb-23 360250,000

6-Dec-23 360,250,000 2022n023

Total 1,,141,000,000

b Development Grants

Bank Slatement Date Amount (KShs)

Bank Statement Date Amount (KShsl lndlcate the FY to which the amounts relale

2022n02313n6n023 95,250,000.00

115,000,000.00 2022n023680n023

680n023 5,362,40s 2022n023

Total 215,612,405

The above annmts have been conrrrmbated to and recorEiled with the parent Minbtry

Head of Accourting Unit

State DepartrEnt of Foresry

s,s'---&+----

o","---12-13-[/ua-r118t03 2024

> r-.'. S v'

Head ofAccorr[s
KEFRI

Sign

Date
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